

Temi di discussione

(Working Papers)

Big-city life (dis)satisfaction? The effect of urban living on subjective well-being

by David Loschiavo





Temi di discussione

(Working Papers)

Big-city life (dis)satisfaction? The effect of urban living on subjective well-being

by David Loschiavo

Number 1221 - June 2019

The papers published in the Temi di discussione series describe preliminary results and are made available to the public to encourage discussion and elicit comments.

The views expressed in the articles are those of the authors and do not involve the responsibility of the Bank.

Editorial Board: Federico Cingano, Marianna Riggi, Emanuele Ciani, Nicola Curci, Davide Delle Monache, Francesco Franceschi, Andrea Linarello, Juho Taneli Makinen, Luca Metelli, Valentina Michelangeli, Mario Pietrunti, Lucia Paola Maria Rizzica, Massimiliano Stacchini. *Editorial Assistants:* Alessandra Giammarco, Roberto Marano.

ISSN 1594-7939 (print)

ISSN 2281-3950 (online)

Printed by the Printing and Publishing Division of the Bank of Italy

BIG-CITY LIFE (DIS)SATISFACTION? THE EFFECT OF URBAN LIVING ON SUBJECTIVE WELL-BEING

by David Loschiavo*

Abstract

This paper investigates the effect of big-city life on individuals' well-being. Combining data on Italian municipalities' characteristics with individual-level survey data, I find that city size negatively affects subjective well-being. This association is not driven by omitted variable bias or by spatial sorting of citizens. Commute time accounts for most of the differences in subjective well-being among cities of different size. There is suggestive evidence that the negative effect of commuting on well-being is caused by reduced time availability for fostering personal relationships and engaging in leisure activities. This finding suggests that interventions reducing the amount of time people spend in an unpleasant state can spur agglomeration economies and their contribution to aggregate productivity and growth.

JEL Classification: D60, I3, R23, R41, H54, J61. **Keywords**: subjective well-being, urbanization, commute time.

Contents

1. Introduction	5
2. Related literature	7
3. Data and overview of spatial disparities in SWB	8
4. Big-city life and allocation of time	10
5. Effects of urbanization on well-being	12
6. Big-city negative premium	14
7. Identification issues and sensitivity analysis	15
7.1 Addressing the endogeneity of city size	15
7.2 Sample selection	17
7.3 Additional robustness checks	19
8. Conclusion	24
Tables	25
Appendix A: definitions of variables and summary statistics	43
Appendix B: review of the coefficients	47
References	49

^{*} Bank of Italy, Directorate General for Economics, Statistics and Research.

1 Introduction*

According to traditional analysis of agglomeration, urban concentration enhances productivity, which, in turn, spurs national economic growth.¹ However, at individual level urbanization not only provides many benefits but also comes with substantial costs. The overall effect on subjective well-being (SWB) is unclear and is debated in the literature. Importantly, the existence of differentials in SWB among cities of different size may lower the contribution of agglomeration economies to aggregate growth if such differentials limit the number of workers willing to move in high productivity cities in response to a localized labour demand shock (i.e. the *local employment elasticity*).

Against this background, Italy has a milder (relative to other countries) pattern of agglomeration and its main urban areas economies make a lower contribution to national value added (Accetturo *et al.* (2019)). There is limited population mobility with migration responding weakly to local changes in employment and wages (see Brunello *et al.* (2001); Ciani *et al.* (2017)).² Despite differentials in productivity between urban and non-urban areas that are in line with those of other comparable countries, urban wage premia are lower in Italy (Lamorgese and Petrella (2018)). Rigid housing supply elasticity has been found to hamper agglomeration processes by effectively limiting the number of workers who have access to such high productivity (Accetturo *et al.* (2018)).

Congestion may also play an important role in affecting local employment elasticity and Italian urban agglomeration. According to the INRIX 2018 Global Traffic Scorecard, eight of the top ten cities in the world ranked by hours lost in congestion are European. Among them, Italian cities are among the slowest.³ Since congestion correlates with city age, it is no surprise that European cities place among the slowest globally. Dense cores, narrow roads and complex road networks make older European cities ill-suited for mobility. Surprisingly enough, research on congestion's drag on employment and productivity growth has focused mainly on US cities, with less attention devoted to Europe.⁴ Italy is indeed a particularly interesting country to analyse due to the strong presence of historical and artistic amenities and urban constrained topographies. Such constraints limit a city's expansion to a shape deemed ideal for minimizing within-city trips and for building

^{*}I would like to thank Antonio Accetturo, Stefano Della Vigna, Sauro Mocetti, Enrico Moretti, Luigi Pistaferri, Paolo Sestito, two anonymous referees for very useful suggestions and comments on previous drafts. Helpful comments from the seminar participants of the IRLE Workshop of 16 May 2018 held at University of California, Berkeley and of the HEIRS 2018 Conference of 15-17 November 2018 held at the University of Naples Federico II are gratefully acknowledged. The views expressed herein are those of the author and should not be attributed to the Bank of Italy. All errors remain mine.

¹Several mechanisms have been postulated. See, for instance, Rosenthal and Strange (2001); Ellison *et al.* (2010); Chaney *et al.* (2012).

 $^{^{2}}$ A reduced propensity to move can also be explained by the familistic culture in Italy (Alesina and Ichino (2009)) or by the dynastic nature of professional occupations (Mocetti (2016)).

³Rome ranks first in Europe and second globally; 5 out of the 16 most congested European cities are Italian (Rome (1), Milan (6), Florence (10), Naples (13), Turin (16)).

⁴A remarkable exception is Broersma and van Dijk (2008) who find that slow productivity growth in The Netherlands during the 1990s was concentrated in the economic core regions and explained by negative congestion effects overruling positive agglomeration advantages.

cost-effective transport networks (Harari (2017)), thus negatively affecting SWB via increased commute times.

This analysis is motivated by the relatively low degree of agglomeration in Italy and, consequently, the weaker contribution of agglomeration economies to aggregate productivity and growth. It aims to show that commute time, by negatively affecting SWB, lessens the attractiveness of big cities and therefore may be an important determinant of low local employment elasticity. Indeed, there is some evidence that big-city life can lower the well-being of residents (see Section 2) and so, by affecting workers' location choices across cities, prevent or slow down agglomeration processes. As a matter of fact, urbanization is a source of both amenities and disamenities. When the sources of urban attractiveness prevail, local labour demand shocks may boost a city's growth. Conversely, when disamenities prevail, the ability of local areas to grasp the benefits of a positive shock may be hindered. It follows that big cities' characteristics and their capacity to attract skilled workers are likely to have relevant effects on aggregate economic growth.

Results of the analysis show that urbanization negatively affects individuals' well-being, even after taking into account heterogeneity of living conditions within cities (Section 5). Estimations yield a happiness (negative) premium with respect to city size of -0.059 (Section 6). Commute time accounts for most of the differences in SWB among cities of different size, as it proxies a fundamental determinant of SWB: the reduced availability of time for big-city dwellers to build and foster personal relationships (Section 4). An IV strategy and a coefficient stability analysis à la Altonji tackle unobserved heterogeneity concerns (Section 7.1); a Heckman selection model (Section 7.2) shows that results are not driven by spatial sorting of citizens. Results are insensitive to different definitions of city size variable, to the presence of endogenous amenities, to the relative income hypothesis and to different types of individual and city income shocks (Section 7.3).

Congestion may negatively impact the economic growth of metropolitan areas through three channels: the monetary costs of congestion-induced travel delays; when congestion slows metropolitan growth and limits agglomeration economies; and the fiscal burdens stemming from public-sector congestion mitigation policies. This work highlights another potential channel, which reinforce the second channel, for the relevance of congestion as a constraint on growth: the sizable negative effect of commute time on SWB. It is argued that increased commute times force big-city dwellers to spend relatively more of their time in a state of tension and stress rather than engaging in leisure activities and fostering personal relationships. This, in turn, limits the attractiveness of big cities, slows labour mobility and hampers agglomeration economies. Such a channel is of great policy interest since it helps to determine local policies, such as transport infrastructure investments and local taxation. For instance, Hymel (2009) find that high initial levels of traffic congestion dampen subsequent employment growth in large US metropolitan areas and, consequently, that increasing the efficiency of public infrastructure can spur local economies. Agrawal and Hoyt (2018) show how local income tax differentials can have a large effect on commuting times.

Overall, the analysis suggests that policy makers interested in increasing urbanization as a driver of aggregate growth may enhance individual well-being through interventions that reduce the amount of time people spend in an unpleasant state. In particular, congestion taxes, investment in public transportation and flextime work arrangements may reduce the amount of time spent commuting, thus increasing well-being and the attractiveness of big cities.

2 Related literature

This paper relates to different strands of literature. First, it builds on the literature on resource misallocation across cities and its effects on aggregate growth. Hsieh and Moretti (2019) have recently shown that spatial misallocation of labour, due to constraints on housing supply in the most productive US cities, has lowered aggregate growth by the striking figure of almost 50 per cent in the last half century. However, by enabling people to separate workplace and residence, efficient commuting may facilitate the allocation of workers to productive locations even in the presence of inelastic housing supply. For example, Monte *et al.* (2018) show how empirically-observed improvements in commuting technologies across US counties generate sizable welfare gains. This work contributes to this literature by showing that negative effects of long commute times on SWB can lower big cities' attractiveness and, therefore, impede the efficient allocation of resources across cities.

This work also adds to both the growing strands of literature on urban and happiness economics. Indeed, big cities offer better job, income and consumption opportunities, thus positively affecting the SWB of their inhabitants. However, an adverse effect on SWB could stem from increased living costs, congestion, pollution, work pressure, and a lower willingness among people to cooperate and support each other. On the whole, the impact of urbanization on SWB appears to be ultimately an empirical question. According to urban economics literature, people in big cities are not only richer but also happier (Glaeser (2011); Albouy (2008)). However, Diamond (2016) has shown that benefits stemming from living in urban areas are easily grasped by skilled individuals who are able to better enjoy the amenities that are relatively more important or affordable to them than to those less educated. On the contrary, studies in the field of happiness economics find that urbanization generally reduces SWB (for instance, Berry and Okulicz-Kozaryn (2011); Easterlin et al. (2011); Winters and Li (2017)). Glaeser et al. (2016) show that residents of declining cities in the US appear less happy than others. Previous studies on Italian data confirm that quality of life varies substantially across space (Colombo et al. (2014)). To the best of my knowledge, this is the first paper that systematically addresses the potential bias in the relationship between urbanization and SWB stemming from the unobserved heterogeneity and spatial sorting of citizens.

This work also relates to studies on the relevance of commute time for SWB. Stutzer and Frey (2008) show that the length and difficulty of a person's commute may play a much bigger role in her happiness than whatever benefits she may derive from a longer commute. Lucas and Heady (2002) also find evidence that commuting stress is correlated with sleep quality, health and problems at work. According to the study of the Office for National Statistics (2014) commuters are more likely to be anxious, dissatisfied and have a lower sense that their activities are worthwhile even if they are paid more than those who do not have to travel to work.⁵ This analysis contributes to this strand of literature by showing how commute time affects SWB not only because of health and stress issues but also via a reduced time for building and fostering personal relationships.

3 Data and overview of spatial disparities in SWB

Data sources The data used in the analysis are obtained from different sources. The primary one is the *Banca d'Italia's Survey on Household Income and Wealth* (SHIW), which collects information on demographics, income, assets, and loans for a representative sample of Italian households and is carried out biennially. The survey includes approximately 8,000 households, distributed over about 350 Italian municipalities. The sampling is in two stages: first municipalities a re chosen from different strata from throughout Italy and then households are randomly chosen from registry ∞ e records within each chosen municipality.

From 2004 to 2010, the SHIW asked half of the sample the following question: "Considering all the aspects of your life, how happy would you say you are? Please score on a scale from 1 to 10, where 1 means *extremely unhappy* and 10 *extremely happy*, and the intermediate numbers serve to graduate the response". Since 2012, the question has been asked to all respondents. The sample used in the analysis consists of the seven waves 2004-2016 for a total of approximately 36,000 observations (21,500 individuals). For the purposes of this paper, it is important to underline that the SHIW confidentially reports individuals' city of residence (there are 452 cities in the sample used for this analysis). This makes it possible to match the individual data with local information at city level.

Data at city level are drawn from other sources. Crime rate, Commute time, City Connectivity, Unemployment Rate and Value Added are from *Italian National Institute of Statistics* (ISTAT - Istituto nazionale di statistica). House prices are from The Italian Revenue Agency (AdE - Agenzia delle Entrate). Data on environmental variables are from the *Italian National Agency for New Technologies, Energy and Sustainable Economic Development* (ENEA - Agenzia nazionale per le nuove tecnologie, l'energia e lo sviluppo economico sostenibile). Data on tax and income records at city level are from the *Italian Ministry of Economy and Finance* (MEF). Variable definitions and descriptive statistics (Table A1) are presented in the Appendix A.

Evidence presented in the next Section 4 is drawn on the Italian leg of the Eurostat's EU-SILC survey (*EU-Statistics on Income and Living Conditions*), that in its 2013 Ad-hoc module on Subjective Well-Being collected data on different dimensions of SWB (life satisfaction, happiness, and the sense of purpose in life), individual satisfaction with commute time, personal relationships and time use. This survey, although richer in the dimensions of quality of life considered, cannot be used for the main analysis of this paper due to the confidentiality limitation on the city of residence of respondents.

⁵However, behind such apparently sub-optimal choices there could be a countervailing indirect effect since commuters could be sacrificing themselves for the happiness of other members of the family in living far from the commuter workplace.

Overview of spatial disparities in SWB To provide a first glance at who/where are the happy people in Italy, Table 1 describes SWB levels for different groups by reporting the mean level of the happiness score for each characteristic. The data show that women report themselves as noticeably less happy than men. There is a negative effect from age, with the highest level of happiness reported in the 35-to-44 years age category and some evidence of a mild U-shape. Interestingly, and perhaps unexpectedly, the highly educated (with college degrees) are less satisfied than those with high school qualification, who are in turn more satisfied than those with no or few qualifications. Individuals who work as employees are slightly happier than those who are self-employed; while the lowest level of hap-piness is reported by those in a non-working status. These are averages across a heterogeneous group and the presence of both retired and unemployed in the latter category is particularly likely to confound the average score. As an economist would predict, SWB rises with quartiles of income and wealth. The mean level of the happiness score does vary somewhat across geographical areas (it is higher in North Italy than in the southern regions); most likely reflecting spatial differences in per capita income. A primary aim of the paper is to explore the idea that city size has a relevant effect on SWB: the bottom of Table 1 shows the existence of differences in average levels of happiness by city size with the highest level of SWB occurring in medium-sized cities and the lower mean level in the biggest cities.

A preliminary descriptive analysis of city-level happiness is further provided by showing how happy the happiest cities are relative to the least happy, and how these differences compare with the average values of other selected variables relevant for the following econometric analysis. The top panel of Table 2 documents large differences in average happiness between the top and bottom quintiles of its distribution, from an average of 5.9 in the least happy quintile to 7.9 in the top quintile. The inter-quintile difference is also highly significant. The top and bottom quintiles also differ significantly with regard to the other variables: commute times and population size are significantly lower in the happiest communities while house prices are significantly higher in the bottom quintiles of the distribution of happiness. These findings suggest that life is significantly less happy in urban areas.

To further explore the issue, in the bottom panel of Table 2 a direct comparison of happiness in the urban and non-urban samples is presented, to see how, on average, happiness and other relevant variables differ between the two types of cities.⁶ The average gap between urban and non-urban happiness is about 0.3 points on a scale of 0 to 10: a difference highly significant in statistical terms and that those familiar with the literature on SWB will recognize as substantial. As expected, house prices and population size are significantly higher in the urban areas. Average commute times are 34 minutes in the non-urban areas, compared to 40 minutes in the urban areas. Despite being in line with previous studies,⁷

⁶The distinction between urban and non-urban typology is based on the Eurostat's methodology that classifies the degree of urbanization of an area into 3 levels: 'Densely populated area'; 'Intermediate area'; and 'Thinly-populated area'. For the sake of simplicity, I have aggregate the last two typologies in the non-urban category while adopting the first typology for the urban category. The population threshold between these two categories is 50,000 inhabitants.

 $^{^{7}}$ A recent work by Helliwell *et al.* (2018) finds very similar differences in happiness and commute time between Canadian urban and rural communities.

this difference in commute time may not appear striking at first glance. However, the effect of commuting on SWB depends not only on the time and the distance involved but also on the interaction with other factors that may cause emotional and physical stress. In particular, the quality of commuting is often negatively correlated with its length. Systematic public transportation and congestion-related travel delays make commuting more stressful because people feel like they are not in control of their time and are under considerable time pressure to get to their job. The strain of commuting is also increased by environmental factors like noise, overcrowded transports and pollution, which are typically associated with bigger cities.

Overall, these results document the existence of spatial disparities in levels of SWB and that the top quintile cities have lower commute times, smaller population size and house prices, all of which are features of non-urban rather than urban life. In fact, when splitting the sample into non-urban and urban parts, life is found to be indeed less happy in the cities.

Following this preliminary look at the happiness data and some of the related determinants, the next section provides suggestive evidence of how time availability, as proxied by commute time, is an important determinant of SWB.

4 Big-city life and allocation of time

Why should big-city residents be less happy? According to Wirth (1938), one of many potential reasons is "the relative absence of intimate personal acquain-tanceship". Characteristically, big-city dwellers are exposed to unceasing external contacts with numbers of persons that are nevertheless impersonal and transitory.⁸

In addition to this, big-city dwellers are dependent upon more people for the satisfaction of their life-needs than are residents of smaller cities. It follows that their acquaintances tend to be of a self-serving nature: the role they play in each other's lives is often a means to their own ends. This utilitarian nexus tends to displace inter-personal relations and is enhanced by the higher cost of living of larger cities. Finally, the exposure to a more competitive environment where there is a lower willingness among people to cooperate and support each other may reduce happiness.

According to social psychology literature, close relationships are indeed a fundamental determinant of individual health and well-being. Those who keep warm and lasting relationships with family, friends, and the community are happier than loners (see Distel *et al.* (2015)) and those with strong social support experienced less mental deterioration as they aged (Vaillant (2003)). More recently, Clark *et al.* (2018) find that, contrary to the conventional wisdom, income inequality accounts for only a small percentage of the variance in happiness across the population; the critical factors being instead their social relationships and their mental and physical health.

 $^{^{8}}$ It is often said that the big cities are characterized by secondary rather than primary contacts: typically, physical contacts are close but social contacts are distant (Wirth (1938)).

As the quality of personal relationships is not easily observed by the econometrician, the simple consideration that building and maintaining close and good relationships require time helps us in looking for an observed "proxy" control. Big-city dwellers typically face increased congestion, longer workdays and greater commute time. This causes a reduction of the time available for fostering personal relationships and leisure activities and a higher opportunity cost of time in big cities. On average, big-city dwellers spend relatively more of their time in activities that are associated not with greater happiness, but with higher tension and stress. Therefore, commute time is the observed "proxy" control⁹ that, supported by the following evidence, I assume to be negatively correlated with the time available for developing and enriching personal relationships and happiness-generating activities.

A prima facie evidence of the relevance of commute time for several dimensions of SWB is provided in Table 3. Columns 1, 4, and 7 show that, after controlling for a bevy set of individual characteristics, the effect on SWB of a one standard deviation increase in the self-reported satisfaction with commute time accounts for as much as 45 to 80 per cent of one standard deviation increase in income (another important determinant of SWB). Once satisfaction with personal relationships and time use are also taken into account, it becomes evident that the strongest effect on SWB stems from the former, whose effect on SWB accounts, in terms of standardized coefficients, for as much as 1.3 to 5 times the effect of one standard deviation increase in income (see Table 3). Since happiness will be the dimension of SWB used in this work, it is worth noting that this result holds true regardless of the measure of well-being adopted (happiness, life satisfaction or eudamonia).¹⁰ Table 4 complements this suggestive evidence by showing how satisfaction with commute time strongly correlates with, and has a sizable effect on, satisfaction with personal relationships and with time use, thus supporting the choice of the former as a "proxy" variable for the latter.

In line with these findings, I proxy the opportunity cost of time by using commute time (city mean values) to argue that the negative effect of living in big cities is largely explained by the reduced availability of time for their inhabitants. In fact, when I add data on commute time into the analysis, the coefficient of city size dulls substantially both in magnitude and statistical significance.

⁹In Angrist and Pischke (2008) it is shown how a proxy control, that is, the inclusion of variables that might partially control for omitted factors, but are themselves affected by the variable of interest, it is an improvement on no control at all.

¹⁰Happiness is often referred to as hedonic well-being since respondents tend to answer how they are feeling right at the instant of the interview. Life satisfaction is considered a cognitive/evaluative measure because in answering individuals tend to make an evaluation about how well their life is going with respect their initial goals. Last, there are eudemonic measures (declaration that life has a meaning) that can be thought of as reflecting Maslow's hierarchy of needs. The different well-being measures are actually sharply different from each other and, as such, it is not a priori clear which one of them is closest to what really matters to people. However, the well-being measures may be quite strongly correlated with each other as shown by previous studies (see Clark (2016)) but, as it stands, are also clear from the results reported in Table 3.

5 Effects of urbanization on well-being

Let us assume that the level of happiness reported by individual i in city c at time t is given by:

$$h_{ict} = log(pop_{ct}) + \mathbf{x}_{it}^{'}\beta + \mathbf{z}_{ct-1}^{'}\gamma + \epsilon_{ict}, \qquad (1)$$

where urbanization is measured by the size of the city as expressed by the log of its population $log(pop_{ct})$, \mathbf{x}_{it} is a vector of time-varying individual characteristics expected to have a significant explanatory power according to the related literature. More specifically, they include a gender dummy, age, age squared, dummies for educational attainment and marital status, household size, dummies for employment status, the logs of equivalised income and equivalised net wealth. \mathbf{z}_{ct-1} is a vector of time-varying location-specific features that may affect individual well-being. They include city's house prices, natural amenities (degree days¹¹ and altitude), commute time, inter-city connectivity,¹² county crime rate, unemployment rate and value added. ϵ_{ict} denotes the error term. Estimations of equation (1) also include year and month of interview, and macro-area geo dummies.

A first hypothesis to test is whether there are systematic differences in happiness levels across Italian cities of different size, both before controlling for individual and location characteristics and after including these controls. To facilitate a comparison with previous studies on SWB, I estimate equation (1) by means of a pooled ordered probit. To account for the complex sampling design in the SHIW, in all the regressions variance is estimated using Jackknife Repeated Replications (JRR) replicated weights.¹³ In the following sections, the sources of bias potentially arising from estimating such an equation will be addressed.

Results reported in Table 5 show that city size has a negative and statistically significant effect on self-reported h appiness. Estimated coefficients of all other control variables confirm all the m ain d eterminants of h appiness h ighlighted by the literature (see Appendix B for coefficient discussion). The city size coefficient estimates do vary somewhat across specifications. Interestingly, the magnitude of the coefficient increases both when individual (Columns 2 to 3) and location controls (Columns 4 to 7) are included, suggesting that studies not controlling for individual characteristics or city features may produce inaccurate results. In particular, the biggest variation in coefficient magnitude occurs when housing values are included among controls. In urban economics, higher house prices are a revealed signal of higher quality of life. Consistently, conditioning on house prices significantly lowers the coefficient on the city size (from -0.022 to -0.055) since it partials out the effect of better local amenities in bigger cities.

In addition to this, when commute time is added to the city level variables, the city-size negative effect greatly decreases in magnitude and statistical significance

¹¹Heating degree days express how cold winters are in each specific city. This measure is preferred to annual average temperatures because it better reflects how much the temperature varied within a year. For a more in-depth explanation see the variable's definition in Appendix A.

¹²The index expresses the intensity of worker flows among cities. The greater the index the higher the intensity of inter-city flows. For further details, see Appendix A.

¹³Faiella (2008) shows how ignoring SHIW sampling design can affect the results of statistical inference and suggests, as a strategy for unbias variance estimation, the use of JRR method.

(see Table 5 Column 6), suggesting that part of the negative effect of city size depends on this variable. Table 6 shows that the latter result holds not only when I include commute time together with the other city-level covariates but also in isolation, when I sequentially augment the regression in Table 5 Column 3, with each of the variables measuring socioeconomic conditions of municipalities where the individual resides.

The augmented specification of Table 5 Column 6 will be the baseline since, when comparing the estimated models in Table 5 and Table 6, I find that the introduction of the additional regressors delivers the highest values for Pseudo R2 and the lowest ones for AIC and BIC, confirming the superior performance of the full specification in terms of goodness of fit.

It is worth noting that, despite the number of regressors used, the variance inflation factor (VIF) does not reveal multicollinearity problems. In particular, the variables of interest, population size and commute time do not have high VIFs, being respectively 3.33 and 3.40, well below the threshold of 10 usually adopted in the literature to conclude that multicollinearity is a problem (Gujarati (1988)). In addition to this, an adjusted Wald test rejects, at a confidence level of 99.9 per cent, the null hypothesis that the estimated coefficients of population size and commute time are jointly equal to zero. Multicollinearity does not pose a serious problem for at least two other reasons: i) the regression coefficients are individually significant (see Columns 5 and 7 of Table 5 and Columns 7 and 9 of Table 6); and ii) the estimates and their standard errors are not very sensitive to changes in the data.¹⁴ On the other hand, dropping one of the two variables of interest from the model may cause a specification bias since omitting a variable may seriously mislead as to the true values of the parameters.

Overall, the negative relationship between urbanization and self-reported happiness is strongly significant and robust to various specifications and only controlling for commute time causes the relationship to weaken both in magnitude and statistical significance.

Results are in line with the urban morphologies of most of the biggest Italian cities. In fact, with few exceptions they are prevalently monocentric but, at the same time, they face different geographic (steep terrain or proximity to sea coasts) and historical/artistic (implying restrictive regulations on vertical limits for buildings) constraints. Such constraints prevent them from taking a circular expansion path, which is considered by urban planners the ideal one for minimizing withincity trips and for constructing cost-effective transport networks. It follows that the spatial layout of cities is forced towards a less compact development pattern, which, in turn, can cause longer within-city distances. Consistently, Manzoli and Mocetti (2016) find that most of the large house prices differentials between Italian urban and non-urban areas is explained by the higher prices of urban central areas and that the house price gradient is steeper when the average commute time is longer. Thus, the strong tourism attractiveness of Italian city centres and the evidence that consumers are paying a premium for living in central areas (in terms of a higher house price-to-income ratio) to reduce within-city trips¹⁵ may explain

¹⁴This is confirmed by the numerous sample splits presented in the following sections.

 $^{^{15}}$ Harari (2017) using Indian data finds also evidence that consumers are paying a premium

the existence of large house price differentials even in the presence of low agglomeration and labour mobility. The following section provides additional insights on this.

Heterogeneity of living conditions within cities This section of the paper considers amendments of the previous model to handle individual heterogeneity in living conditions inside the city. In particular, information reported by the interviewer on the respondents' house of residence location (centre vs outskirts), on the quality of the building where they live (luxury vs deteriorated) as well as on the quality of their neighbourhood (luxury vs deteriorated) are exploited. Columns 1 and 2 of Table 7 show that including these indicators among individual controls does not affect previous results. Furthermore, results of the regressions run only on the sub-sample of individuals living in the city centre show that for those individuals the effect of agglomeration on SWB is not statistically different from zero (see Columns 3 and 4 of Table 7). Indeed, Italian cities are predominantly monocentric and so people living in city centres experience on average shorter within-city trips. Hence, by showing that people living in city centre are not negatively affected by city size, these results provide additional evidence that commute time is an important determinant of big-city dwellers' lower SWB.

6 Big-city negative premium

One potential issue with the estimations of the previous sections is that they are performed on micro-data and include aggregated (specifically, city-level) variables. As shown by Moulton (1990) and Combes *et al.* (2008), this one-step procedure may be problematic since it can create very large biases in the standard error for the coefficients on aggregate explanatory variables. To address the issue,¹⁶ I adopt a two-stage estimation procedure that has been widely used in urban literature when estimating the effect of urbanization on wage premia (see, among others, Moretti (2004) and De la Roca and Puga (2017)) and that yields standard errors that account for the grouped structure of the data. For this, in the first stage, I estimate a pooled ordered probit regression of self-reported happiness on individual characteristics and city fixed effects. Hence, the regression-adjusted mean happiness in city c at time t, $\hat{\sigma}_c$, is obtained from the following first-stage regression:

$$h_{ic} = \sigma_c + \mathbf{x}_i^{'} \beta + d_t + d_m + \epsilon_{ic}, \qquad (2)$$

where \mathbf{x}'_i is a vector of individual characteristics, d_t and d_m are respectively year and month of interview dummies, and σ_c is a set of city-time dummies that can be interpreted as a vector of adjusted city average happiness. This equation is estimated by a pooled ordered probit and results are reported in Column 1 of Table 8.

for living in more compact cities, in terms of lower wages and higher housing rents/prices.

¹⁶Clustering standard errors at the city level is not sufficient to avoid this pitfall since individuals can move between areas.

In the second stage, the estimated city fixed effects $\hat{\sigma}_c$ are used as dependent variable and are regressed on the log of the city population, controlling for city characteristics \mathbf{z}'_c and macro-area fixed effects m_a :

$$\widehat{\sigma_c} = \log(pop_c) + \mathbf{z}_c'\gamma + m_a + \eta_{ic}, \tag{3}$$

All the regressions are weighted by the number of observations per city to account for differences in the precision of the first stage e s timates. This weighted two-stage procedure gives rise to estimates that are numerically very close to one-step estimates: Table 8 Columns 2 to 4 show pooled-OLS happiness (negative) premia with respect to city size which are equivalent to the relevant coefficients obtained by the single-stage estimations of Table 5 Columns 3 to 5. In particular, estimates of the specification with the full set of location-specific controls yield a happiness (negative) premium with respect to city size of -0.059 (Column4), which is very close to the one-stage estimate of -0.050. In addition to this, when commute time is added among city-level variables, the city-size negative premium decreases both numerically and in statistical significance (see Table 8 Column 5), confirming that actually a good part of the negative effect of city size depends on this variable.

7 Identification issues and sensitivity analysis

In this section, other sources of bias potentially affecting results, such as unobserved heterogeneity and spatial sorting of individuals across cities, will be addressed. Furthermore, the last subsection is devoted to examine the sensitivity of findings when alternative measures of urbanization are used and the role of endogenous amenities, the reference income hypothesis and aggregate and individuals' income shocks are taken into account.

7.1 Addressing the endogeneity of city size

A first issue with estimating the effect of city size on SWB is that people living in big cities might differ from other people along unobservable dimensions. Furthermore, an omitted variable bias could also arise if some city characteristics simultaneously influence SWB and attract individuals to the city, thus increasing its size. In order to tackle these potential sources of bias, I adopt two identification strategies: I first provide instrumental variables (IV) estimates; then I follow the Altonji *et al.* (2005) approach and use selection on observables to assess the bias from unobservables.

IV estimates City size is instrumented by historical population in 1921.¹⁷ The hypothesis of lack of correlation between long-lagged population size and current economic phenomena is commonly made in the urban economics literature (see, for instance, Ciccone and Hall (1996); Combes *et al.* (2008)).

The validity of this instrument rests on the hypothesis that the early patterns of agglomeration in Italy did not reflect factors which both significantly contribute

¹⁷The year 1921 was chosen to avoid a strong reduction in the number of cities included in the sample. In fact, Italy's first census year was 1861 but, at that time, many cities included in the sample did not exist or they changed the extension of their area over time.

to SWB nowadays and are not accounted for by the model (as it would be if natural amenities were not controlled for), but have a lingering influence mainly through the legacy of agglomeration. On the contrary, if historical population is correlated with the SWB level of the city, it will not give an estimate of the agglomeration effect. Indeed, it is reasonable to assume that modern societies have changed so much that it is unlikely that the variables relevant for SWB at the beginning of the 20th century still matter today. This identifying assumption can be also defended on the grounds that industrialization in Italy did not begin until the 1890s, and that the biggest wave of industrialization, which came with the first congestion problems in bigger cities (see Ciani *et al.* (2017)), occurred only in the 1950s.

Table 9 gives the first and second stages of IV estimations. The first-stage results in Panel B show that the instrument is significant. It is also strong. The F-statistic for weak identification exceeds all critical values proposed by Stock and Yogo (2005). The LM test confirms the instrument is relevant as it rejects the null hypothesis that the model is underidentified. Lastly, according to the endogeneity test, the data do not reject the use of OLS.

Overall, I found endogeneity concerns to be of small practical importance. Indeed, estimates document that instrumenting leaves almost unchanged the coefficient of happiness (negative) premium with respect to city size. This holds true for all the specifications with sequentially increasing controls (Columns 1 to 3). The reduction in the magnitude and statistical significance of the city size coefficient when commute time is plugged into estimations is also confirmed (Column 4).

Bias from unobservables and coefficient stability Since the validity of an instrument is always disputable, it is possible to adopt another identification strategy under the assumption that selection on observables can be used to assess the potential bias from unobservables (Altonji *et al.* (2005)). For this, one needs to look for a measure of how strong selection on unobservables, relative to selection on observables, must be to explain away the full estimated effect of city size. This measure can be calculated by first considering two regressions: one with a restricted set of control variables, and one with a full set of controls. If selection on observables is proportional to selection on unobservables, then the changes in the coefficient of interest between the two regressions provide information about the bias induced by excluding relevant characteristics. Oster (2017) has shown that coefficient stability analysis can be misleading if it ignores the fact that coefficient movements must be scaled by R^2 movements.¹⁸ For this reason, a correction that takes into account the R^2 is proposed. This correction delivers a bound for the

$$\widehat{\widehat{\alpha}} = \widehat{\alpha} * - (\widehat{\alpha} - \widehat{\alpha} *) \times \frac{R_{max} - R^*}{R^* - R},\tag{4}$$

¹⁸Oster (2017) shows that the following is a consistent estimator of the effect of α (e.g., city size) on the outcome variable (e.g., SWB):

where $\hat{\alpha}^*$ and \mathbb{R}^* are the coefficient estimate and \mathbb{R}^2 from the regression including observable covariates, and $\hat{\alpha}$ and \mathbb{R} are the coefficient and \mathbb{R}^2 from the uncontrolled regression. In addition, \mathbb{R}_{max} is the \mathbb{R}^2 in a regression of the outcome variable on all observable and unobservable controls, which is clearly unknowable (given its reliance on unobservables) and must be obtained using one of the statistical approaches presented in the text.

coefficient of interest. The idea underlying the approach is that the increase in the R^2 across the uncontrolled and the controlled regressions captures the amount of variation in the dependent variable that is explained by the observed covariates. This, together with the maximum amount of variation that can be potentially explained R_{max} , gives rise to an estimate of the lower bound for the interval of coefficients. If this lower bound is negative, it would provide further evidence that the true causal effect of city size on SWB is indeed likely to be negative. To be cautious, I adopt different statistical assumptions regarding R_{max} , including the most conservative case of $R_{max} = 1.^{19}$

Accordingly, the adjusted coefficients for the specification with f ull controls presented in Column 6 of Table 5 are reported in the last five columns of Table 10. The bounds confirm that the true effect of city size is negative, and possibly even larger than the estimates in Table 5. This holds true under different approaches to R_{max} and, most remarkably, even under the unrealistically conservative assumption of $R_{max}=1.^{20}$ Indeed, in the more realistic cases of Columns 3 and 4, the lower bounds are also numerically very close to the upper bound. Such results make it less likely that the estimated effects are fully driven by omitted variable bias.

Overall the analysis shows that, by exploiting instrumental variables and the \dot{a} la Altonji approach, it is possible to provide robust results with respect to endogeneity concerns.

7.2 Sample selection

Another potential source of estimation bias may arise from not taking into account the sorting of individuals across cities, especially if cities of different size attract people who are disproportionately inclined to be more or less happy. As a matter of fact, urban dwellers are more likely to have moved recently, and less likely to have a sense of community belonging than are those in more rural areas. Individuals leaving small cities for bigger cities experience greater levels of congestion, pollution and distress. In addition to having to adapt to the latter negative factors, movers face other migration costs (such as breaking physical proximity with family and friends). Such costs may (at least temporarily) outweigh the benefits to the individual's well-being stemming from getting a new job or a higher income. If this is the case, the negative relationship between SWB and urbanization might then be transitory and driven by adaptation to big-city life.

Hence, in order to leave out temporary adaptation effects, I run the regressions on the sub-sample of stayers by exploiting, as in Guiso *et al.* (2015), the SHIW information on the place of birth and city of residence of individuals, to create an indicator variable denoting whether the individual lives in the same province where

¹⁹More in detail, I use all the approaches to R_{max} adopted in González and Miguel (2015) and based on different degrees of measurement error in the reported outcome variable (i.e., the survey-resurvey reliability ratio of an outcome variable), namely: (1) the Oster approach ($R_{max} =$ min{1.3R*, 1}), (2) the González and Miguel approach ($R_{max}=2R^*-R$), (3) and (4) the reliability ratio approaches based on McKenzie (2012) and Baird *et al.* (2008) (assuming $R_{max}=0.5$ and $R_{max}=0.8$, respectively), (5) and the most conservative case ($R_{max}=1$).

 $^{{}^{20}}R_{max}=1$ implicitly assumes that there is exactly zero measurement error in the reported outcome variable. A case which seems implausible in most real-world applications.

she was born (stayer) or she has moved since her birth (mover). The coefficient of city size is unaffected, and it remains significantly different from zero at the 1 per ceb level (Table 11). This holds true both for the single-stage regression on happiness (Column 1) and for the two-stage estimation on regression-adjusted city average happiness (Column 2).

Furthermore, to deal with the fact that the stayers might be a selected sam-ple of the population, I adopt a Heckman selection model. Following Barone and Mocetti (2011) as exclusion restriction, I use an indicator variable that is equal to 1 if the individual has inherited the house where she lives and 0 otherwise. This exclusion restriction implies that, conditional on controls, the inheritance of the house of residence affects the probability of being a stayer but it is unrelated to SWB. Indeed, it is reasonable that the propensity to stay is higher for those who inherit their house of residence. Selling and buying houses are in fact typically as-sociated with relatively large search and sunk costs. Thus, homeowners face higher switching costs than do others, which, in turn, may negatively affect their propen-sity to move. A potential threat to the validity of such an exclusion restriction is whether having inherited the house of residence is related to an individual's SWB even after conditioning on covariates. Indeed, it seems unlikely that, once having controlled for individuals' income and wealth, inheritance of home of residence may directly affect SWB. Despite this, to make the exclusion restriction adopted even more defensible, I also add to the controls the inheritance of a secondary home so that the wealth effect of inheriting a house on SWB is partialled out.

Running the selection model, I find that the coefficient of the relevant indicator variable in the Heckman selection equation is statistically different from zero, and the sign is positive as expected. More importantly, the negative effect of living in big cities on individual well-being is confirmed (Column 3 of Table 11). This leads me to believe that much of the difference in happiness between cities of different size reflects more than the selection of unhappy people into unhappy places.²¹ Comparison between relevant Columns of Table 11 and Table 12 confirms that the city-size negative effect on happiness is significantly dwarfed when commute time is plugged into regressions.

Overall, from these results it is possible to conclude that spatial sorting and transitory effects do not seem to be relevant issues in the data since city size is more strongly associated with the unhappiness of longer-term residents.²² This evidence is also consistent with the fact that in Italy the risk that a selected subset of individuals move to the most agglomerated areas is reduced because of low labour mobility (see Section 1) and that the choice of location is strongly driven by other factors, such as family links, migration costs, and employment relationships.

²¹An alternative approach, commonly followed in the literature when dealing with spatial sorting of individuals on unobservables, is to adopt a panel fixed effects model. To identify all the effects involved in such a specification it would be necessary to have a very large number of observations with many stayers and large flows of movers between cities. Unfortunately, the SHIW panel sample size does not have enough observations for these two conditions to be met.

²²Were the number of panel individuals large enough, it would possible to estimate a full specification of equation 1 allowing for a joint estimation of the static and dynamic components of the happiness premium of bigger cities while accounting for unobserved individual heterogeneity. This full specification would then make it possible to formally test the existence of a dynamic effect of life experience accumulated in bigger cities on subjective well-being.

7.3 Additional robustness checks

In this subsection, I further consider how sensitive the results presented in Section 5 are to additional specifications and robustness checks.

Results are insensitive to alternative clustering schemes. Estimates reported in Table 13 show that the effect of city size on happiness is unaffected when clustering standard errors both by individual (Columns 1 and 2) and by city (Columns 3 and 4) as well as when adopting two-way clustered standard errors by both individual and city (instead of clustering just by either of the two, see Columns 5 and 6).

Table 14 presents different approaches for measuring the extent of urbanization in lieu of the log of city population. A common agglomeration variable employed in urban economics studies is based on the Local Labour Market (LLM). LLMs are clusters of municipalities aggregated on the basis of residents' daily commuting flows to their place of work. The urban economics literature is increasingly basing empirical analysis on LLMs to avoid a geographical aggregation bias in contexts of imperfect labour mobility. However, LLMs are not particularly suited to be the spatial unit of this analysis because SHIW data do not enable us to distinguish whether individuals living in small cities of a big LLM actually commute or not. In addition to this, even when they are commuters, the negative impact on their SWB may be offset by the indirect effect of living in happier families if other family members do not have to commute to their workplaces and live in a place that is less congested and with an easier access to amenities. Despite this, as an additional check in Column 1 of Table 14, I have replaced for each individual the population size of the municipality of residence with the population size of the LLM in which she lives. In accordance with my expectations, the effect of LLM population size on SWB, albeit still negative and significant, is downward biased both in magnitude and statistical significance with respect to the use of administrative area population. Controlling for commute time in Column 2 causes the negative relationship between LLM size and SWB to disappear. It is worth noting that, since commute time is still measured at city level while population size now refers to the LLM, this result provides further evidence that previous findings were not driven by the fact that population size and commute time are referred to the same spatial unit.

To check for non-linearities in the definition of city size, I assign each city to one of four categories based on population groupings: small (0-20,000); medium (20, 001-40,000); large (40,001-500,000); very large (over 500,000). In the regression results, small cities are the excluded base group and coefficients for the size dummy variables are measured relative to this base group. Estimates reported in Column 3 of Table 14 show that the highest well-being occurs in the omitted base group (small cities) and generate coefficients that are all statistically significant and largely decreasing in urban size. Columns 4 confirms that controlling for commute time reduces the negative effect of city size and that the bigger the urban size, the larger the reduction. In Columns 5 and 6, besides city population size, city land area is included among controls. Since both variables are expressed in logs, this allows us to proxy the effect of density on SWB. Using a density measure produces rather similar results, albeit it slightly lowers the coefficient on city population size which nonetheless remains strongly significant. Finally, to check if findings are driven by the unhappiness of one or some of the largest cities, I have also explored removing them from the sample. In particular, in Table 15 I sequentially exclude the three biggest Italian cities (Rome, Milan and Naples) and I find that such sample restrictions do not affect the city size coefficient.

The use of OPROBIT estimations is the common standard in the SWB literature. Even though OLS estimations make it easier to interpret the coefficients, the use of such an estimator is somewhat problematic since it assumes that the distances between the 10 satisfaction scores are all equal. Ordered models relax that assumption. Moreover, the technical correctness of an OPROBIT outweighs the simplicity of interpreting an OLS when the distribution of the outcomes is skewed, as is normally the case for SWB. Bearing this in mind, it is important to emphasize that in unreported estimations OLS models give the same results as OPROBIT models in terms of significance levels and predicted outcomes.

Value of amenities, endogenous amenities and the role of skill gap In the previous specifications, the value of amenities was approximated by the level of a city's house prices. In urban economics, the value of a city's amenities, in line with the standard revealed-preference approach, is usually considered proportional to the city's cost-of-living relative to its wage level. Hence, one may be worried that results are driven by incorrect amenity-value estimations. I replace house prices with a measure of value of amenities obtained, following Albouy (2008), by the willingness-to-pay (WTP) of a city's inhabitant. More specifically, to obtain the city average WTP, I subtract from imputed rents the average income after local and state taxes.²³ Adjusted amenity-value estimates reported in Columns 1 of Table 16 indicate that previous results are insensitive to such a change.

Diamond (2016) recently showed for US big cities that the increase in the proportion of college graduates raised local productivity and all workers' wages, but improved even more so the local amenities that matter to skilled workers. Such amenities may be considered endogenous since their supply tends to respond to the larger high-skill mix of big cities. Thus, the net welfare impacts of changes in a city's wages, rents, and endogenous amenities led to greater in well-being inequality between college and high school graduates that is larger than the increase in the college wage gap alone. In what follows, I check whether structural and significant differences between the two groups of individuals affect the relationship between agglomeration and SWB.

To this end, I estimate three different specifications. As a first exercise, I split the sample by education level, distinguishing college graduates from from those who did not graduate from college. I then run separate regressions on the two sub-samples (Columns 2 to 5 of Table 16). I then take it a step further and run regressions in which the log of city population is interacted with an indicator variable expressing individuals' highest educational attainment (Columns 6 and 7 of Table 16). Finally, in Columns 8 and 9 of Table 16 I adopt a different approach for measuring the extent of urbanization in lieu of the log of city population. Specifically, I assign each city to one of four categories based on population groupings:

 $^{^{23}}$ For a more in-depth explanation see the definition of the variable in Appendix A.

small (0-20,000); medium (20,001-40,000); large (40,001-500,000); very large (over 500,000). I then interact each of these categories with the indicator variable expressing the individuals' highest educational attainment.

Estimates of all specifications show that the negative effect of urbanization for college graduates is weaker and statistically less significant than for non-college graduates. This is in line with Diamond (2016) result according to which 'endogenous' amenities play a role in explaining a differentiated effect of agglomeration between skilled and unskilled individuals' SWB since the relative importance of certain amenities is different for different skill groups. Furthermore, Columns 3, 5, 7 and 9 confirm that, when commute time is plugged into estimations, the negative effect of urbanization decreases significantly for both skill groups.

Nevertheless, when comparing the effect of living in cities of different sizes for individuals within the same educational group (Columns 8 and 9), the highest wellbeing occurs in the omitted base group (college graduates living in small cities) and other groups' coefficients are largely decreasing in urban size and increasing in educational attainment. It follows that college graduates living in big cities experience a lower level of SWB with respect to individuals living in smaller cities with the same level of education. Overall, it appears that urbanization's amenities compensate skilled individuals more than unskilled ones for its disamenities, but they are probably not important enough to completely offset the negative effects of living in bigger cities for both skill groups.²⁴ From that, I conclude that the negative relationship between agglomeration and SWB fully exists even when the role of 'endogenous' amenities is taken into account.

Relative income hypothesis A long-standing tradition in economics maintains that SWB is mainly affected by relative rather than absolute level of income and wealth (see, for instance, Duesenberry (1949); Easterlin (1974); Ferrer-i Carbonell (2005); Luttmer (2005)). I therefore test the hypothesis that a person's position in the income and wealth distributions matters per se and, potentially, how sensitive the results on the effect of urbanization are to income comparisons.

For this, I adopt the following specification:

$$h_{ict} = log(pop_{ct}) + \mathbf{x}'_{it}\beta + f(y^*_{imt})\delta + \mathbf{z}'_{ct-1}\gamma + \epsilon_{ict},$$
(5)

compared with equation 1, equation 5 now incorporates an additional term $f(y_{imt}^*)$ that expresses the income of the reference group for individual i.²⁵ Thus, function $f(y_{imt}^*)$ determines how reference group income influences individual wellbeing. Two basic specifications of this function are: $f(y_{imt}^*) = ln(y_{imt}^*)$ (in model 1) and $f(y_{imt}^*) = \frac{ln(y_{ict})}{ln(y_{imt}^*)}$ (in model 2), where y_{ict} denotes the income of individual i. Moreover, three additional models are estimated that, instead of the term $f(y_{imt}^*)$, include: a dummy variable *richer* that is equal to 1 when an individual

 $^{^{24}}$ For an analysis of the role of amenities in worker location decisions and the differential change in the amenities that matter for skilled or unskilled workers across metropolitan areas in the United States, see Moretti (2013).

 $^{^{25}}$ For an explanation of how a reference group is calculated, see the definition of the variable in Appendix A.

earns more than the reference income; individuals' ranks in the income and wealth distributions; the degree of a city's income inequality.

Columns 1 and 2 of Table 17 presents the results for the first specification. The inclusion of the average equivalized income of the reference group does not change the household income coefficient significantly (see Column 5 of Table 17). Contrary to conventional wisdom, the average income of the reference group has a positive impact on SWB. There are two potential explanations for this result. First, according to the channel named "Tunnel Effect" by Hirschman and Rothschild (1973), a high reference income can have a welfare-enhancing "anticipatory feelings" effect. The idea is that individuals observing the high income of other people in their social circle interpret it as a sign that their own future income is likely to move in the same direction (Senik (2008)). Secondly, such a specification does not take into account the importance of relative income for SWB (i.e. the relevance of the distance between the individual's own and the reference group's income). To deal with this issue a second specification is adopted in which the average income of the reference group is substituted by the relative income expressed as the ratio between the individual's own income and the reference income. Results presented in Columns 3 and 4 of Table 17 show that the coefficient of the relative income is positive, indicating that the larger an individual's own income is in comparison to the reference group income, the happier the individual is.

Another hypothesis to test is that income comparisons are not symmetric (see, e.g., Duesenberry (1949)) because the happiness of individuals is negatively affected by an income below that of their reference group while individuals with an income above that of their reference group do not experience a positive impact on SWB. For this a third specification is estimated where a dummy variable *richer* is introduced when an individual earns more than the reference income. According to the hypothesis, the coefficient of the variable *richer* is expected to be non-significant. Results reported in Columns 5 and 6 of Table 17 show instead a significant and positive coefficient for the variable *richer*, contradicting the assumption that comparisons are only 'upwards'. This result is in line with evidence found on US individuals by McBride (2001) and it suggests the existence of what can be called a "getting ahead of the Joneses" channel according to which even wealthier individuals care about their social position, and their marginal utility rises when their relative wealth position advances.

Finally, Columns 7 and 8 of Table 17 report estimates of a specification in which the level of income and wealth have been replaced by the individuals' ranks in the income and wealth distributions. In both cases the omitted category is the first quartile. Results reveal a monotonic relationship between equivalised income and wealth ranks and the individuals' well-being. Unsurprisingly, the null of 0 on these coefficients can be rejected at any conventional level and the size of the income and wealth gradient is large: there is a large difference in the happiness point between individuals in the highest income/wealth quartiles and those in the lowest ones.

A number of empirical studies in experimental economics have identified fairness, inequity aversion, pure and impure altruism and reciprocity as some of the main departures from the purely self-regarding preference paradigm (see e.g. Fehr and Schmidt (1999)). Since income distribution in big cities is usually highly skewed, I test if previous findings may be driven by inequality aversion. In Columns 9 and 10 the Gini coefficient, expressing the city's degree of income inequality, is not significant and its introduction among controls does not alter previous results.

All in all, the inclusion of the income comparisons in the model does not alter the negative effect of city size on well-being: the relevant coefficient remains stable and strongly significant across all the specifications presented in Table 17 and controlling for commute time still greatly reduces its magnitude.

Individual and city income shocks According to social psychology litera-ture, individuals' memories are imperfect and susceptible to bias (Kahneman *et al.*(2003); Kahneman and Krueger (2006)). The self-evaluation of well-being is often dominated by the most recent experiences with unpleasant ones playing a bigger role than pleasurable episodes (see, for instance, the *focusing illusion* hypothesis of Kahneman *et al.* (2006)). As an economic counterpart of this, recent changes in an individual's income may influence self-reported happiness. To this end, I exploit some SHIW questions about (past or expected) individuals' income shocks to check if my results are driven by a systematic overestimation of the transitory circumstances on mood. Such questions have been included in the survey only since 2010 so the sample size is significantly reduced. Despite this, evidence re-ported in Table 18 confirms that results hold even when income shocks are taken into account.

In all columns the effect of city size on happiness holds both in terms of statistical significance and the negative sign of the coefficient, even though the size of it rises moderately with respect to the preferred specification of Table 5 Column 5.²⁶ Interestingly, according to the estimations, the effect of a shock to income (past or expected) is asymmetric: negative shocks affect individuals' well-being more than positive ones. This is in line with some well-known results in happiness economics and may be interpreted as backward- and forward-looking loss aversion.²⁷ More specifically, in Columns 1 and 2 a negative recent income shock (last year's income unusually low) has a sizable negative effect on an individual's happiness whereas the coefficient for a positive shock is not statistically different from zero. Columns 3 and 4 shows that this asymmetric pattern also emerges for decreasing and in-creasing expected income (current year income lower/higher than last year). I also control for the effect of an expected loss or gain in individuals' purchasing power. Results reported in Columns 5 and 6 confirm that a negative change in economic conditions has a significant impact on happiness that outweighs a positive one.

Finally, I also take into account the effect of income shocks at city level. Since in an area with a weak (strong) local economy there could be an increased (de-creased) perceived risk of becoming unemployed, which, in turn, may affect mood, in Columns 7 and 8 I check whether a shock to average income at city level (as expressed by its annual average rate of growth over the period 2004-2016) is causing unhappiness and I find previous results insensitive to such a change.

Overall, results on the negative effects of city size on happiness, as well as the attenuating effect of commute time, hold also when shocks to individual and aggregate income are taken into account.

 $^{^{26}\}mathrm{Most}$ probably, this is due to the sampling variation.

²⁷For example, according to the hedonic treadmill hypothesis, increases in the standard of living have almost no detectable effects on life satisfaction or happiness. Despite this, some negative changes in circumstances, such as unemployment, have a lasting effect.

8 Conclusion

I have examined the relationship between subjective well-being and urbanization. Using data on Italian cities, I find evidence that city size negatively affects individuals' happiness. This result holds when I control not only for a wide range of individual characteristics, but also for several location features at a finer partition of the territory than is usually done in the literature.

To the best of my knowledge, this is also the first work that systematically addresses the sources of bias potentially affecting the relationship between SWB and urbanization. First, to deal with the issue of a regression performed on micro units and including aggregated variables that may bias standard errors, I adopt a two-stage procedure allowing the estimation of a big-city negative well-being premium. Secondly, in order to tackle unobserved heterogeneity concerns, I also estimate the model by means of both a IV strategy and an à la Altonji approach and I find such concerns to be of small practical importance. Thirdly, I address the issue of spatial sorting of individuals and I find that much of the difference in happiness between cities of different size reflects more than the selection of unhappy people into unhappy places. In particular, results show that that city size is more strongly associated with unhappiness of longer-term residents, arguably suggesting the existence of a dynamic effect of life experience accumulated in bigger cities. Finally, I find that urbanization's amenities compensate skilled individuals more than unskilled ones for its disamenities, but the overall effect of living in bigger cities on SWB remains negative for both skill groups.

Controlling for commute time causes the relationship between SWB and city size to weaken both in magnitude and statistical significance. Supported by this result and by the evidence presented in Section 4, I interpret the negative relationship between urbanization and individuals' well-being as expressing the effect of reduced availability of time for big-city dwellers to engage in happiness-generating activities and foster personal relationships. I therefore argue that an important factor in explaining the negative relationship between city size and SWB is big-city inhabitants' constrained use of time as proxied by the length of commute time.

Bearing in mind the urban economics consensus on the leading role of big cities for aggregated economic growth, the implications of these results are particularly relevant in the case of Italy. A strong presence of different constraints limiting cities' expansion into an ideal shape for minimizing within-city trips and for more cost-effective transport networks may affect location choices across Italian cities. It follows that weak responsiveness of labour mobility to local positive shocks may hinder the ability of cities to grasp the benefits of these shocks for economic growth.

The findings of the analysis then suggest that policy makers interested in increasing urbanization as a driver of aggregate growth may enhance individual wellbeing through interventions that reduce the amount of time people spend in an unpleasant state. In particular, congestion taxes, investment in public transportation and flextime work arrangements may reduce the amount of time spent commuting, thus increasing well-being and the attractiveness of big cities.

	Mean Happiness (1)	N
Sex	()	
Woman	6.614	15,732
Male	7.107	20,096
Age		
Less than 35 years	7.387	2,002
35 to 44 years	7.440	4,739
45 to 54 years	6.962	6,986
55 to 64 years	6.799	7,227
65 years or older	6.483	14,874
Education		
Primary school or without education	6.284	10,403
Junior high school	7.065	$12,\!605$
High school	7.422	8,909
Degree or more	7.308	3,911
Job status		
Employee	7.312	11,258
Self-employed	7.212	3,234
Non worker	6.560	21,336
Quartiles of equivalised income		
First quartile	6.516	7,435
Second quartile	6.774	9,467
Third quartile	6.995	9,449
Fourth quartile	7.323	9,477
Quartiles of equivalised net wealth		
First quartile	6.558	8,059
Second quartile	6.654	$7,\!146$
Third quartile	7.167	9,507
Fourth quartile	7.230	$11,\!116$
Geographical areas		
North West	7.214	8,738
North East	7.025	$7,\!247$
Centre	6.907	7,723
South	6.541	8,066
Islands	6.754	4,054
City size (2)		
Small city	6.929	9,609
Medium city	7.110	6,702
Large City	6.891	16,389
Very large city	6.731	3,128
Total	6.918	35,828

Table 1: Happiness by social and economic characteristics

Source: Survey of Household Income and Wealth, 2004-2016 waves. Notes: (1) Means are calculated using sampling weights and refer to the whole sample.(2) City size: Small city is up to 20,000 inhabitants; Medium city population is over 20,000 and up to 40,000 inhabitants; Large city is over 40,000 and up to 500,000 inhabitants; Very large city is over 500,000 inhabitants.

	Difference b	etween Top and	Bottom Happiness Quintile Means
	Top Quintile	Bottom Quintile	Difference
Happiness	7.914	5.871	2.043
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
Mean Commute (minutes)	33.982	36.623	-2.640
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.000)
Log Population	9.504	10.289	-0.785
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
Log house prices	7.244	7.033	0.212
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.001)
	Differ	ence between U	rban and Non-Urban Means
Variable	Urban	Non-Urban	Difference
Happiness	6.734	7.007	-0.274
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
Mean Commute (minutes)	39.844	34.108	5.736
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.000)
Log Population	11.448	9.410	2.038
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
Log house prices	7.374	7.093	0.281
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)

Table 2: Spatial differences in SWB

P-values are reported in parentheses

Dependent variable		Happiness		Lif	e Satisfacti	on		Eu	damonia
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)	(2)	(8)	(6)
	OLS	OLS	OLS	OLS	OLS	OLS	OLS	OLS	OLS
Commuting (sat.)	0.066^{***}	0.046^{***}	0.027^{***}	0.177^{***}	0.112^{***}	0.068^{***}	0.180^{***}	0.106^{***}	0.085^{***}
	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.012)
Relationsh. (sat.)		0.121^{***}	0.094^{***}		0.377^{***}	0.314^{***}		0.422^{***}	0.394^{***}
		(0.010)	(0.010)		(0.020)	(0.020)		(0.019)	(0.020)
Time use $(sat.)$			0.075^{***}			0.165^{***}			0.076^{***}
			(0.007)			(0.014)			(0.014)
Income	0.105^{***}	0.086^{***}	0.084^{***}	0.388^{***}	0.328^{***}	0.305^{***}	0.223^{***}	0.158^{***}	0.151^{***}
	(0.023)	(0.023)	(0.022)	(0.048)	(0.043)	(0.038)	(0.038)	(0.032)	(0.032)
Individual controls	Yes	$\mathbf{Y}_{\mathbf{es}}$	\mathbf{Yes}	\mathbf{Yes}	Yes	$\mathbf{Y}_{\mathbf{es}}$	$\mathbf{Y}_{\mathbf{es}}$	\mathbf{Yes}	Yes
Region FE	Yes	Yes	$\mathbf{Y}_{\mathbf{es}}$	Yes	Yes	Yes	\mathbf{Yes}	\mathbf{Yes}	\mathbf{Yes}
Ν	10004	9995	9988	9096	9598	9592	9925	9919	9914
Note: Standardized cc	efficients, *	** p<0.01, **	p<0.05, * p	<0.1. All s _l	pecifications	are estimate	ed using sam	pling weights w	ith standard errors are corrected
for heteroscedasticity.	Individual o	controls are: 5	sex, age, age	squared, log	g of equivalis	sed income,	indicator va	riables for educe	ation attainment, household size,
activity status, marita	l status and	health condi	tions. Sourc	e: 2013 IT-S	SILC.				

of well-being
dimensions o
n different
ommuting o
with C
Satisfaction
Effect of
Table 3:

Dependent variable	Relatio	onships	Time Use
	(1)	(2)	(3)
	OLS	OLS	OLS
Commuting (satisf.)	0.176***	0.105***	0.334***
	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.015)
Time use (satisf.)		0.213^{***}	
		(0.013)	
Income	0.151^{***}	0.127^{***}	0.071
	(0.038)	(0.035)	(0.043)
Individual controls	Yes	Yes	Yes
Region FE	Yes	Yes	Yes
Ν	10010	10003	10003

Table 4: Effect of Satisfaction with Commuting on Personal Relationships and Time use

Note: Standardized coefficients, *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. All specifications are estimated using sampling weights with standard errors are corrected for heteroscedasticity. Individual controls are: sex, age, age squared, log of equivalised income, indicator variables for education attainment, household size, activity status, marital status and health conditions. Source: 2013 IT-SILC.

	(1) ODDODIT	(2) ODDODIT	(3) ODDODIT	(4) ODDODIT	(5) ODDODIT	(6)	(7) ODDODIT
T	OPROBIT	OPROBIT	OPROBIT	OPROBIT	OPROBIT	OPROBIT	OPROBIT
Log city size	-0.016	$-0.030^{-0.1}$	-0.022^{+++}	-0.055	-0.050	-0.025	
C	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.006)	(0.007)	(0.010)	0.010***
Commute time						-0.014	-0.010
Corr		0.059***	0.049**	0.044**	0.046***	(0.004)	(0.002)
Sex		$(0.055^{-1.1})$	(0.045)	(0.044)	$(0.040^{-1.0})$	(0.047)	(0.042)
A		(0.017)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)
Age		$-0.030^{-0.02}$	-0.045	-0.045	-0.043	-0.045	-0.040
A go squared		0.003)	0.004)	0.004)	0.004)	0.004)	0.004)
Age squared		(0,000)	(0,000)	(0,000)	(0,000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
Flomon school		0.360***	0.000)	0.000)	0.000)	0.000)	0.000)
Element. School		(0.025)	-0.217 (0.026)	(0.026)	-0.207	-0.210 (0.026)	(0.026)
Middle school		-0.182***	-0.082***	-0.078***	-0.078***	-0.081***	-0.081***
Midule School		(0.020)	(0.002)	(0.020)	(0.078)	(0.021)	(0.021)
University		0.100***	0.117***	0.117***	0.108***	0.100***	0.107***
Oniversity		(0.024)	(0.024)	(0.024)	(0.024)	(0.103)	(0.024)
Self-employed		(0.024)	-0.077***	-0.076***	-0.075**	-0.074**	-0.076**
ben employed		(0.028)	(0.029)	(0.029)	(0.029)	(0.029)	(0.029)
Unemployed		-0 546***	-0.325***	-0.321***	-0.326***	-0.326***	-0.319***
enempioyeu		(0.048)	(0.054)	(0.054)	(0.054)	(0.053)	(0.054)
Retired		0.055**	0.027	0.028	0.030	0.029	0.030
		(0.027)	(0.028)	(0.028)	(0.028)	(0.028)	(0.028)
Household size		0.035***	0.045***	0.046***	0.046***	0.046***	0.046***
		(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.008)
Married		0.427***	0.393***	0.395***	0.401***	0.400***	0.397***
		(0.020)	(0.022)	(0.022)	(0.022)	(0.022)	(0.022)
Income		()	0.093***	0.093***	0.092***	0.093***	0.093***
			(0.009)	(0.009)	(0.009)	(0.009)	(0.009)
Wealth			0.055***	0.054***	0.055***	0.054***	0.054***
			(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)
House prices			· · · ·	0.182***	0.196***	0.192***	0.142***
-				(0.028)	(0.031)	(0.031)	(0.024)
Degree days				. ,	-0.033	0.010	0.020
					(0.049)	(0.049)	(0.048)
Altitude					0.006	0.004	0.013
					(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.008)
Crime rate					-0.182^{***}	-0.158^{***}	-0.176^{***}
					(0.034)	(0.034)	(0.034)
Connectivity					-0.002***	-0.003***	
					(0.000)	(0.000)	
Value added					0.090^{***}	0.073^{**}	0.123^{***}
					(0.034)	(0.034)	(0.035)
Ν	35828	35828	34812	34812	34797	34797	34797
Pseudo R2	0.007	0.038	0.045	0.046	0.047	0.047	0.047
Log likelihood	-68380.426	-66274.507	-63284.900	-63238.401	-63133.858	-63114.495	-63121.742
AIC	136818.851	132629.014	126653.801	126562.802	126363.717	126326.990	126339.483
BIC	137064.959	132968.473	127009.025	126926.484	126769.666	126741.397	126745.433

Table 5: Effects of urbanization on happiness - single stage estimations

Notes: All specifications include geo (5 Macroareas: NW, NE, Center, South, Islands), year and month of interview indicators. Weighted estimates; variance estimated using Jackknife Repeated Replications (JRR) replicated weights. Reference categories: education = high school; marital status = single; employment status = employee. ***, **, and * denote significance at 1%, 5%, and 10%, respectively.

					1				
	(1) OPROBIT	(2) OPROBIT	(3) OPROBIT	(4) OPROBIT	(5) OPROBIT	(6) OPROBIT	(7) OPROBIT	(8) OPROBIT	(9) OPROBIT
Log city size	-0.055***	-0.021***	-0.019***	-0.015***	-0.025***	-0.019***	-0.025***	-0.003	
Commute time	(0.006)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.007)-0.011***	-0.012^{***}
Hourse arrives	0 189***							(0.003)	(0.002)
contra penori	(0.028)								
Degree days		0.012							
Altitude		(000.0)	0.008						
Crime rate				-0.116^{***}					
Value added				(700.0)	0.111^{***} (0.032)				
Unemployment rate						-0.148^{***}			
Connectivity						(1000)	-0.002^{***}		
Individual controls	Yes	Yes	Yes	\mathbf{Yes}	\mathbf{Yes}	Yes	Yes	$\mathbf{Y}_{\mathbf{es}}$	Yes
N	34812	34797	34797	34812	34812	34802	34812	34812	34812
Pseudo R2	0.046	0.045	0.045	0.045	0.046	0.045	0.045	0.045	0.045
Log likelihood	-63238.401	-63248.937	-63247.586	-63270.269	-63246.649	-63241.83	-63277.876	-63271.216	-63271.277
AIC	126562.802	126583.874	126581.172	126626.538	126579.298	126569.7	126641.751	126628.432	126626.554
BIC	126926.484	126947.537	126944.836	126990.219	126942.980	126933.3	127005.433	126992.113	126981.778
Notes: All specificati	ons include ge	o (5 Macroare	as: NW, NE,	Center, South	, Islands), yea	r and month	of interview in	dicators. Weigh	ted estimates; variance
estimated using Jack	knife Repeate	d Replications	(JRR) replic	ated weights.	***, **, and *	[*] denote signi	ficance at 1% ,	5%, and 10%,	respectively.

Table 6: Effects of urbanization on happiness - single stage estimations

	(1)	(0)	(2)	(4)
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
	OPROBIT	OPROBIT	OPROBIT	OPROBIT
	Whole	Whole	Only living	Only living
	sample	sample	in center	in center
Log city size	-0.047***	-0.023**	0.020	0.044
	(0.007)	(0.010)	(0.026)	(0.037)
Commute time		-0.013***		-0.011
		(0.004)		(0.010)
Center	-0.007	-0.006		
	(0.023)	(0.023)		
Outskirt	0.008	0.007		
	(0.018)	(0.018)		
Luxury neighborhood	0.070^{**}	0.071^{**}	0.050	0.053
	(0.034)	(0.034)	(0.059)	(0.059)
Deteriorate neighborhood	-0.228***	-0.229***	-0.268***	-0.273***
	(0.038)	(0.038)	(0.088)	(0.088)
Luxury house	0.099^{***}	0.097^{***}	0.002	-0.001
	(0.035)	(0.036)	(0.060)	(0.061)
Deteriorated house	-0.082**	-0.078**	-0.219**	-0.219**
	(0.032)	(0.032)	(0.094)	(0.094)
Individual controls	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Location controls	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
N	34797	34797	4957	4957

Table 7: Effects of urbanization on happiness - controlling for heterogeneity in location and housing quality

Notes: All specifications include geo (5 Macroareas: NW, NE, Center, South, Islands), year and month of interview indicators. Weighted estimates; variance estimated using Jackknife Repeated Replications (JRR) replicated weights. ***, **, and * denote significance at 1%, 5%, and 10%, respectively.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Dependent variable	Happiness	~ /	City Indicat	tors coefficient	s of column (1)
F	OPROBIT		0.1.5	OLS	
Log eity size	ornobri	0.026**	0.065***	0.050***	0.021
Log city size		-0.020^{-1}	-0.005	-0.039	-0.031
		(0.010)	(0.018)	(0.016)	(0.021)
City indicators	Yes				
\mathbf{Sex}	0.045^{**}				
	(0.019)				
Age	-0.044***				
	(0,004)				
A concerned	0.004)				
Age squared	(0.000)				
	(0.000)				
Elementary school	-0.243***				
	(0.029)				
Middle school	-0.098***				
	(0.022)				
University	0.113***				
	(0.033)				
Solf omployed	0.082***				
Sen-employed	-0.083				
TT 1 1	(0.030)				
Unemployed	-0.324***				
	(0.062)				
Retired	0.017				
	(0.025)				
Household size	0.050^{***}				
	(0.012)				
Married	0 413***				
Waitica	(0.027)				
т	(0.027)				
Income	0.088				
	(0.014)				
Wealth	0.055^{***}				
	(0.005)				
House prices			0.215^{***}	0.226^{***}	0.221^{***}
-			(0.075)	(0.082)	(0.083)
Degree days			()	-0.027	0.024
208100 4495				(0.138)	(0.132)
Altitudo				0.006	0.003
Annuae				(0.000)	0.003
				(0.019)	(0.019)
Crime rate				-0.233***	-0.202**
				(0.079)	(0.082)
Connectivity				-0.003***	-0.003***
				(0.001)	(0.001)
Value added				0.156^{*}	0.127
				(0.092)	(0.095)
Commute time				(0.002)	-0.015*
					-0.010
01	94019	450	450	4 4 7	(0.000)
Observations	34812	452	452	447	447
R2		0.13	0.16	0.21	0.22

Table 8: Estimation of the city size well-being premium - two stage estimations

Notes: Column (1) include year and month of interview indicators and is estimated using sampling weights. Columns (2) to (5) include geo (5 Macroareas: NW, NE, Center, South, Islands) indicators and are weighted by the number of observations per city. Reference categories: education = high school; marital status = single; employment status = employee. Coefficients are reported with robust standard errors in parenthesis, which are clustered at city level. ***, **, and * denote significance at 1%, 5%, and 10%, respectively.

				Panel A: Second stage estimates
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Dependent variable	City size	City size	City size	City size
	premium	premium	premium	premium
Instrumented log city size	-0.023*	-0.079***	-0.062***	-0.029
	(0.012)	(0.017)	(0.016)	(0.024)
House prices		0.306***	0.213^{***}	0.198***
-		(0.061)	(0.075)	(0.075)
Degree days			-0.020	200.0-
A1+i+++do			(U.U&U)	(U.USU) 0.004
			-0.000 (0.015)	-0.004 (0.015)
Crime rate			-0.251^{***}	-0.224***
			(0.079)	(0.080)
Connectivity			-0.002***	-0.003***
			(0.001)	(0.001)
Value added			0.296^{***}	0.269***
			(0.098)	(0.100)
Commute time				-0.016* (0.009)
Observations	451	451	446	446
R2	0.02	0.11	0.18	0.19
F-test weak ident. (H0: instruments jointly insignificant)	549.90	578.52	457.65	196.43
P-value LM test (H0: model underidentified)	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
P-value endog. test (H0: exogeneity of instrumented var.)	0.40	0.93	0.81	0.94
				Panel B: First stage estimates
Dependent variable	Log city	Log city	Log city	Log city
	size	size	size	size
Log city size 1921	1.040^{***}	0.882^{***}	0.832^{***}	0.708***
-	(0.044)	(0.037)	(0.039)	
House prices		0.825*** (0 119)	0.791*** (0.199)	0.740***
Degree days		(ett.u)	-0.647^{***}	-0.633***
			(0.161)	(0.145)
Altitude			0.014	0.005
			(0.028)	(0.027)
Crime rate			0.395** /0.150)	0.215
Connectivity			(0000-	0.100
			(0.002)	(0.002)
Value added			0.106	0.210
			(0.246)	(0.227)
Commute time				0.073***
Observations	151	151	446	(0.017)
	40T	401 001	0.00	
K2	0.89	- 16.0	0.93	0.93
Notes: All regressions include a constant term. In I	Panel B are	e reported	the first-stage r	egressions of log city size on historical population instrument (1921).
In panel A are reported second-stage regressions	of city pre	mia on ins	strumented log	city size. Coefficients are reported with robust standard errors in
parenthesis. $***$, $**$, and $*$ denote significance at	1%, 5%, a	nd 10% le	vels. The F-st [§]	atistic (or Kleibergen-Paap rk Wald statistic) reported on the weak
instruments identification test exceeds all threshold	ls proposed	l by Stock	and Yogo (200	5) for the maximal relative bias and maximal size.

Table 9: IV estimation of the city size well-being premium

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)	(2)
			Oster (2017)	$Gonz \hat{\alpha} lez$ and	Reliab	llity ratio	Most conservative case
	Uncontrolled	Controlled	approach	Miguel (2015)	McKenzie (2012)	Baird et al. (2008)	
Log city size	-0.024***	-0.040***	[-0.045, -0.040]	[-0.055, -0.040]	[-0.076, -0.040]	[-0.110, -0.040]	[-0.132, -0.040]
	(0.006)	(0.015)	1		1	1	1
m R2	0.028	0.168					
Rmax			0.218	0.307	0.500	0.800	1.000
Controls	No	Yes					
Area and Year FE	${ m Yes}$	Y_{es}					
N. of observations	35,828	34,797					

les
rvab
bse
unc
e to
due
oias
ial
tent
pot
$_{\mathrm{the}}$
on
Inds
poc
the
of
ates
tim
tt es
eren
Diff
10:
ole
Tal

Rmax=1.3K^{*}, where R and R^{*} are the R2 from column (1) and (2) respectively. *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Dependent variable	Happiness	City size	Happiness	
		premium		
	OPROBIT	OLS	Hec	kman selection
Subsample	Only Stayers	Only Stayers	Stage Two	Stage One
Log city size	-0.051***	-0.059***	-0.083***	-0.056***
	(0.008)	(0.018)	(0.012)	(0.009)
Sex	0.088***		0.151^{***}	0.042*
	(0.022)		(0.033)	(0.021)
Age	-0.044***		-0.065***	0.009**
	(0.005)		(0.007)	(0.004)
Age squared	0.000***		0.000***	-0.000**
	(0.000)		(0.000)	(0.000)
Elementary school	-0.184***		-0.288***	0.093***
	(0.032)		(0.054)	(0.035)
Middle school	-0.051*		-0.093**	-0.028
	(0.024)		(0.037)	(0.027)
University	0.166^{***}		0.174^{***}	-0.222***
	(0.030)		(0.043)	(0.035)
Self-employed	-0.104**		-0.140***	0.213^{***}
	(0.034)		(0.053)	(0.034)
Unemployed	-0.257***		-0.417***	0.008
	(0.064)		(0.106)	(0.064)
Retired	0.007		0.009	0.030
	(0.033)		(0.054)	(0.034)
Household size	0.024		0.041^{**}	0.032^{**}
	(0.010)		(0.016)	(0.013)
Married	0.469^{***}		0.688^{***}	-0.171***
	(0.027)		(0.041)	(0.031)
Income	0.106^{***}		0.190^{***}	0.022^{**}
	(0.011)		(0.019)	(0.009)
Wealth	0.041^{***}		0.091^{***}	0.080^{***}
	(0.005)		(0.008)	(0.005)
House prices	0.173^{***}	0.195^{**}	0.263^{***}	0.118^{***}
	(0.034)	(0.090)	(0.054)	(0.038)
Degree days	-0.078	-0.095	-0.168*	-0.262***
	(0.058)	(0.148)	(0.094)	(0.072)
Altitude	-0.012	0.012	0.025	0.049^{***}
	(0.010)	(0.021)	(0.015)	(0.011)
Crime rate	-0.240***	-0.331***	-0.357***	0.012
	(0.041)	(0.078)	(0.064)	(0.042)
Connectivity	-0.002***	-0.002*	-0.003***	0.001^{***}
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
Value added	0.125^{**}	0.265^{**}	0.148^{**}	-0.179***
	(0.044)	(0.109)	(0.072)	(0.058)
Second home inherited			-0.154**	-0.154***
			(0.067)	(0.037)
Home inherited			excluded	0.400^{***}
				(0.028)
Additional controls	YES	YES	YES	YES
N	25125	429	34797	34797
athrho			0.264^{***}	0.258^{***}
			(0.029)	(0.029)
lnsigma			0.487***	0.486***
			(0.009)	(0.009)

Table 11: Controlling for spatial sorting

Notes: All specifications include geo (5 Macroareas: NW, NE, Center, South, Islands), year and month of interview indicators. Weighted estimates; variance estimated using Jackknife Repeated Replications (JRR) replicated weights. Stayer= individual's current province of residence is the same of the one in which she was born. The exclusion restriction for the Heckman specification is inheritance of home of residence. ***, **, and * denote significance at 1%, 5%, and 10%, respectively.

	0	*	<u> </u>	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Dependent variable	Happiness	City size	Happiness	Happiness
		premium		
	OPROBIT	OLS	Heck	man selection
Subsample	Only Stayers	Only Stayers	Stage Two	Stage One
Log city size	-0.022	-0.027	-0.047**	-0.069***
~	(0.012)	(0.022)	(0.019)	(0.011)
Sex	0.088***		0.152***	0.041*
	(0.022)		(0.033)	(0.021)
Age	-0.044***		-0.064***	0.009**
A 1	(0.005)		(0.007)	(0.004)
Age squared	(0,000)		(0,000)	$-0.000^{-0.00}$
	(0.000)		(0.000)	(0.000)
Elementary school	-0.187		-0.291	(0.027)
M: J.J L I	(0.032)		(0.054)	(0.035)
Middle school	-0.054		-0.097	-0.020
University	(0.024)		(0.037)	(0.027)
University	(0.104^{+++})		(0.042)	-0.223^{+++}
Colf opportuned	(0.030) 0.105**		(0.043) 0.149***	(0.033)
Self-employed	-0.105^{+1}		-0.142^{+++}	(0.024)
Unomployed	(0.034)		(0.055)	(0.054)
Unemployed	-0.230		-0.410 (0.106)	(0.064)
Potinod	(0.004)		(0.100)	(0.004)
Retifed	(0.003)		(0.007)	(0.030)
Household size	(0.033) 0.024*		0.041**	0.032**
Household size	(0.024)		(0.041)	(0.032)
Married	0.460***		0.688***	(0.013) 0.170***
Mameu	(0.403)		(0.033)	(0.031)
Incomo	(0.027) 0.107***		0.101***	(0.031) 0.022**
meome	(0.011)		(0.131)	(0.022)
Woalth	0.040***		0.0013)	0.080***
Wealth	(0.040)		(0.030)	(0.005)
House prices	0.158***	0.176*	0.243***	0.116***
nouse prices	(0.035)	(0.170)	(0.055)	(0.038)
Degree days	-0.030	-0.040	-0.107	-0.279***
Degree days	(0.057)	(0.141)	(0.093)	(0.071)
Altitude	0.009	0.009	0.021	0.050***
minude	(0.000)	(0.003)	(0.021)	(0.011)
Crime rate	-0 214***	-0 296***	-0.324***	0.005
erime rate	(0.041)	(0.080)	(0.021)	(0.045)
Connectivity	-0.002***	-0.003**	-0.003***	0.002***
Connectivity	(0,000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
Value added	0.102*	0.228**	0.120*	-0.169***
, and added	(0.044)	(0.114)	(0.072)	(0.058)
Commute time	-0.015***	-0.016*	-0.019***	0.008*
	(0.004)	(0.009)	(0.007)	(0.004)
Second home inherited	()	()	-0.149**	-0.155***
			(0.067)	(0.037)
Home inherited			excluded	0.400***
· · · · · ·				(0.028)
Additional controls	YES	YES	YES	YES
N	25125	429	34797	34797
athrho	- *	-	0.264***	0.258***
			(0.029)	(0.029)
lnsigma			0.487***	0.486***
9			(0.009)	(0.009)

Table 12: Controlling for spatial sorting and commute time

Notes: All specifications include geo (5 Macroareas: NW, NE, Center, South, Islands), year and month of interview indicators. Weighted estimates; variance estimated using Jackknife Repeated Replications (JRR) replicated weights. Stayer= individual's current province of residence is the same of the one in which she was born. The exclusion restriction for the Heckman specification is inheritance of home of residence. ***, **, and * denote significance at 1%, 5%, and 10%, respectively.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)
	OPROBIT	OPROBIT	OPROBIT	OPROBIT	OPROBIT	OPROBIT
	St. err. clustered	St. err. clustered	St. err. clustered	St. err. clustered	Two-way clusters	Two-way clusters
	by individual	by individual	by city	by city	by city and indiv.	by city and indiv.
Log city size	-0.050***	-0.024**	-0.050^{***}	-0.024	-0.050^{***}	-0.024**
	(0.007)	(0.010)	(0.012)	(0.019)	(0.001)	(0.010)
Commute time		-0.015^{***}		-0.015*		-0.015^{***}
		(0.004)		(0.008)		(0.004)
Individual controls	${ m Yes}$	Yes	${ m Yes}$	Yes	\mathbf{Yes}	Yes
Location controls	Yes	Yes	\mathbf{Yes}	\mathbf{Yes}	Yes	\mathbf{Yes}
N	34797	34797	34797	34797	34797	34797
Pseudo R2	0.047	0.047	0.047	0.047	0.047	0.047
Log likelihood	-63133.858	-63114.495	-63133.858	-63114.495	-63133.858	-63114.495
AIC	126363.717	126326.990	126363.717	126326.990	126363.717	126326.990
BIC	126769.666	126741.397	126769.666	126741.397	126769.666	126741.397
Notes: All specifics	ations include geo (5	Macroareas: NW,	NE, Center, South,	Islands), year and	month of interview indi	cators and are estimated using
sampling weights. (Joefficients are repor	ted with robust stan	dard errors in paren	thesis, which are clu	stered at individual leve	l in columns (1) and (2) ; at city
level in columns (3)) and (4); and adopt	ing a two-way cluste	red standard errors	by both individual	and city in columns (5)	and (6) . ***, **, and * denote
significance at 1% ,	5%, and 10%, respec	tively.				

ve clustering schemes	
- alternati	
ı happiness -	
urbanization or	
: Effects of t	
Table 13	

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)
	OPROBIT	OPROBIT	OPROBIT	OPROBIT	OPROBIT	OPROBIT
	LLM	LLM	City size	City size	Density	Density
	population	population	dummies	dummies		
Log city size (pop)					-0.056***	-0.034***
					(0.010)	(0.011)
Log city area (ha)					0.009	0.023^{*}
					(0.013)	(0.013)
Log LLM size (pop)	-0.026^{**}	-0.013				
Medium city	$(n\tau n n)$	(110.0)	-0.160^{**}	-0.147^{***}		
			(0.030)	(0.030)		
Large City			-0.245^{***}	-0.186^{***}		
			(0.028)	(0.033)		
Very large city			-0.350***	-0.238***		
			(0.058)	(0.065)		
Commute time		-0.020^{***}		-0.013^{***}		-0.016^{***}
		(0.003)		(0.003)		(0.004)
Individual controls	$\mathbf{Y}_{\mathbf{es}}$	Yes	\mathbf{Yes}	\mathbf{Yes}	Yes	Yes
Location controls	$\mathbf{Y}_{\mathbf{es}}$	\mathbf{Yes}	\mathbf{Yes}	Yes	Yes	\mathbf{Yes}
N	34797	34797	27572	27572	34797	34797
Notes: All specifications	include geo (5 l	Macroareas: NW	, NE, Center, S	outh, Islands), y	vear and month of in	cerview indicators. Weighted estimates; variance
estimated using Jackknif	e Repeated Rep	olications (JRR)	replicated weig	hts. In columns	(3) and (4) City size	:: Small city (reference category) is up to 20,000
inhabitants; Medium city	population is	over 20,000 and	up to 40,000 ir	nhabitants; Larg	ge city is over $40,000$	and up to 500,000 inhabitants; Very large city
column (46) the three big	ggest cities (Ro	me, Milan and N	Vaples) are exclu	excituteu. III co uded. ***, **, a	and * denote significe	sees crues (notifie and miliar) are excluded. In mice at 1%, 5%, and 10%, respectively.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)
	OPROBIT	OPROBIT	OPROBIT	OPROBIT	OPROBIT	OPROBIT
	Without	Without	Without	Without	Without	Without
	biggest city	biggest city	two biggest cities	two biggest cities	three biggest cities	three biggest cities
Log city size	-0.054^{***}	-0.029***	-0.054^{***}	-0.029***	-0.054^{***}	-0.028***
	(0.006)	(0.010)	(0.006)	(0.010)	(0.006)	(0.010)
Commute time		-0.014^{***}		-0.014^{***}		-0.014^{***}
		(0.004)		(0.004)		(0.004)
Individual controls	\mathbf{Yes}	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Location controls	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Ν	34278	34278	33761	33761	33277	33277
Notes: All specification estimated using Jackkn	us include geo (5 ife Reneated Rei	Macroareas: NW nlications (JBB)	7, NE, Center, South, Is renlicated weights In	slands), year and month columns (1) and (2) th	l of interview indicators. V a biggest city (Rome) is ev	Veighted estimates; variance celuded In columns (3) and
(4) the two biggest citi	es (Rome and M	lilan) are exclude	ed. In columns (5) and	(6) the three biggest ci	ties (Rome, Milan and Na	ples) are excluded. ***, **,
and * denote significan	ce at 1%, 5%, ar	nd 10% , respectiv	vely.			

or outliers
controlling f
ı happiness -
n or
urbanizatic
Effects of
Lable 15:

)				
	(1) OPROBIT Whole sample	(2) OPROBIT College	(3) OPROBIT College	(4) OPROBIT Non-College	(5) OPROBIT Non-College	(6) OPROBIT Whole sample	(7) OPROBIT Whole sample	(8) OPROBIT Whole sample	(9) OPROBIT Whole sample
Log city size	-0.048*** (0.005)	-0.044^{**} (0.022)	-0.042* (0.024)	-0.049^{***}	-0.023^{**} (0.011)				
Commute time			-0.001 -0.001		-0.015***		-0.014^{***}		-0.013^{***}
Value of Amenities	0.202^{***}		(010.0)		(10.00)		(0.001)		(000.0)
Elementary school X Log city size	(0.032)					-0.064***	-0.038^{***}		
Middle school X Log city size						(0.007) -0.051***	(0.010) -0.026***		
High school X Log city size						(0.000) -0.044*** (0.007)	-0.018 -0.018 -0.010		
College grad. X Log city size						-0.035*** -0.035***	(0100)		
College grad. X Small city						(100.0)	(010.0)	Reference	Reference
College grad. X Medium city								category -0.231***	category -0.219**
								(0.089)	(0.088)
College grau. A harge city								(0.069)	(0.069)
College grad. X Very large city								-0.308***	-0.200**
Non-College X Small city								(0.080) - 0.164^{**}	(0.082) - 0.167^{***}
								(0.063)	(0.063)
Non-Conege A Meanum city								(0.063)	-0.301
Non-College X Large city								-0.400 * * *	-0.346***
Non-College X Very large city								(0.063) -0.510***	(0.063)-0.404**
for a grant from an again of the								(0.083)	(0.085)
Individual controls	Yes	Yes	${ m Yes}$	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
LOCATION CONTROLS	1 es 9 4 0 1 0	Yes 9054	Yes 9054	1es 20042	1es 20049	1 es 9 4 7 0 7	1 eS 9 4 7 0 7	I es 976 79	1es 97570
	71050	1004		01940	1 1 1000	19150	04131	21012	
Notes: All specifications inclu-	de geo (5 Macro	areas: NW,	NE, Center	, South, Islan	ds), year and	month of inter	view indicators	. Weighted estin	mates; variance
estimated using Jackknife Kel	peated Replicati	(JKK)	replicated w	eights. In co	lumns (2) an	d (3) the samp	ole is restricted	to individuals	who are college
graduates or hold a postgradu	uate degree. In	column (4)	and (5) the	sample is res	tricted to inc	ividuals who a	rre not collage	graduates. In co	olumns (8) and
(9) the reference category is c	college graduate	s who live if	n small citie shabitanta	s and City Siz	ze is denned i	n the following	g way: 5mall c 00 inhohitents:	Ity is up to 20,0 Mour lenge aiter	UU INNADITANTS;
inhabitants. ***, **, and * de	er zu,uuu auu up enote significanc	e at 1%, 5%	, and 10% , ¹	respectively.	uver 40,000 a	u,uue ui qu uii	00 11111401041105,	very large cuty	IS OVEL JUU,UUU

Table 16: Effects of urbanization on happiness - controlling for value of amenities and education

				1)		4		
	(1) OPROBIT	(2) OPROBIT	(3) OPROBIT	(4) OPROBIT	(5) OPROBIT	(6) OPROBIT	(7) OPROBIT	(8) OPROBIT	(9) OPROBIT	(10) OPROBIT
Log city size	-0.051^{***}	-0.024^{**}	-0.052^{***}	-0.028***	-0.052^{***}	-0.027***	-0.051^{***}	-0.034^{***}	-0.051^{***}	-0.027**
	(0.007)	(0.010)	(0.00)	(0.010)	(0.006)	(0.010)	(0.006)	(0.00)	(0.007)	(0.00)
Income	0.091*** (0.000)	0.091***	0.023**	0.024**	(0.067^{***})	0.068^{***}			0.094^{***}	(0.093^{***})
W_{eg}] th	(0.009)	(0.009)	(0.011)	(0.011)0.047***	(0.009) 0.050***	(0.009) 0.050***			(0.009)	(0.009)
	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)			(0.004)	(0.004)
Reference income	0.160^{*}	0.172^{**}								
Commute time	(0.003)	(0.033) -0.015***		-0.013^{***}		-0.014***		-0.010^{***}		-0.014***
		(0.004)		(0.004)		(0.004)		(0.003)		(0.003)
Relative income			0.472^{***} (0.057)	0.466^{***} (0.057)						
Richer			~	~	0.146^{***}	0.145^{***}				
					(0.019)	(0.019)				
2nd Wealth Quartile							(0.094^{***})	(0.097^{***})		
3rd Wealth Quartile							0.195^{***}	0.194^{***}		
							(0.024)	(0.024)		
4th Wealth Quartile							0.296^{***}	0.293^{***}		
2nd Income Quartile							$(0.021) 0.244^{***}$	(0.021) 0.243^{***}		
							(0.028)	(0.028)		
3rd Income Quartile							0.343^{***} (0.029)	0.342^{***} (0.029)		
4th Income Quartile					0.431^{***}	0.431^{***}	(0.021)	(0.021)		
Gini							(+00.0)	(100.0)	0.126	0.245
									(0.263)	(0.273)
Individual controls	\mathbf{Yes}	$\mathbf{Y}_{\mathbf{es}}$	\mathbf{Yes}	$\mathbf{Y}_{\mathbf{es}}$	\mathbf{Yes}	$\mathbf{Y}_{\mathbf{es}}$	$\mathbf{Y}_{\mathbf{es}}$	\mathbf{Yes}	\mathbf{Yes}	\mathbf{Yes}
Location controls	Yes	\mathbf{Yes}	Yes	Yes	\mathbf{Yes}	Yes	Yes	\mathbf{Yes}	Yes	Yes
N	34724	34724	34724	34724	34724	34724	35737	35737	34724	34724
Notes: All specificatic	ons include gec) (5 Macroarea	as: NW, NE, 0	Center, South,	, Islands), yea	r and month o	of interview in	dicators. Weig	ghted estimate	ss; variance
estimated using Jackl	knife Repeatec	l Replications	(JRR) replice	ated weights.	In columns (7	7) and (8) Inc	ome and Wea	lth are not in	cluded among	individual
controls and reference	e categories ar	e: 1st Income	and Wealth q	luartile. ***, >	**, and * dene	ote significanc	e at 1%, 5%,	and 10% , resp	ectively.	

Table 17: Effects of urbanization on happiness - controlling for relative income hypothesis

	(1) OPROBIT	(2) OPROBIT	(3) OPROBIT	(4) OPROBIT	(5) OPROBIT	(6) OPROBIT	(7) OPROBIT	(8) OPROBIT
Log city size	-0.063***	-0.033***	-0.064***	-0.016	-0.058***	-0.036^{***}	-0.053***	-0.026^{***}
Commite time	(0.007)	(0.011)	(0.013)	(0.018)	(0.007)	(0.011)	(0.007)	(0.010)
		(0.004)		(0.007)		(0.004)		(0.004)
Past income shock (positive)	-0.055 (0.081)	-0.059						
Past income shock (negative)	(0.032)	(0.032)						
Expected income (increasing)		, ,	0.085	0.091				
			(0.094)	(0.095)				
Expected income (decreasing)			-0.398^{***} (0.061)	-0.402^{***} (0.061)				
Expected real income (increasing)					0.008	0.008		
					(0.038)	(0.038)		
Expected real income (decreasing)					-0.206^{***}	-0.201^{***}		
i					(0.020)	(020.0)		
City income growth							-1.003 (0.986)	-0.844 (0.984)
Individual controls	${ m Yes}$	\mathbf{Yes}	\mathbf{Yes}	$\mathbf{Y}_{\mathbf{es}}$	\mathbf{Yes}	\mathbf{Yes}	Yes	Yes
Location controls	\mathbf{Yes}	\mathbf{Yes}	\mathbf{Yes}	$\mathbf{Y}_{\mathbf{es}}$	\mathbf{Yes}	\mathbf{Yes}	\mathbf{Yes}	Yes
N	22795	22795	7589	7589	21956	21956	34714	34714
Notes: All specifications include geo	o (5 Macroarea	IS: NW, NE, C	Center, South,	Islands), yea	r and month o	of interview in	idicators. Weigh	ted estimates; variance
estimated using Jackknife Repeated	1 Replications	(JRR) replice	ated weights.	Reference ca	tegories: Past	income shoc	$\mathbf{k} = \mathbf{last}$ year in	come was normal with
respect to the yearly ordinary hous	sehold income;	Expected ind	some = incon	ne in the curr	tent year is ex	spected the s	ame compared w	ith the previous year;
Expected real income = current yet 10% , respectively.	ar individual's	s income is ex _]	pected to rise	e about the se	ame as prices.	***, **, and	l * denote signif	cance at 1% , 5% , and

Table 18: Effects of urbanization on happiness - controlling for income shocks

Appendix A Definitions of variables and summary statistics

Here I provide a detailed description of the variables used in the paper whose definitions are not obvious.

- *Happy* Indicator obtained from the following question: "Considering all the aspects of your life, how happy would you say you are?" Coded between 0 and 10, with a higher number indicating more happiness. (source: SHIW)
- Income Log of equivalised household (monetary disposable) income. Equivalised household income is normally considered the most appropriate indicator of the standard of living of a family and is obtained by applying to total household income the modified OECD equivalence scale which assigns a coefficient of 1 to the head of household, 0.5 to other household members aged 14 or more, and 0.3 to those younger than 14. For each household the number of "equivalent adults" is calculated by summing the coefficients assigned to the various members. Household income is then divided by that coefficient and allocated to each household member. For more details see (Canberra Group, 2011, pp. 68-72). Finally, monetary disposable income refers to disposable household income net of imputed rents and gross of negative interest. (source: SHIW)
- *Wealth* Log of net equivalised household net wealth. Equavalised wealth is obtained by applying the modified OECD equivalence scale to total household net wealth (for more details on the OECD equivalence scale see *Income* above). (source: SHIW)
- *Education* Indicator variable expressing the individual's highest level of education and coded in the following way: 1 = Pre-primary and primary education; 2 = Middle school; 3 = High school degree; 4 = University degree or postgraduate degree. (source: SHIW)
- *House prices* Log of city-level house prices per square meter. Data on house prices are obtained from the Observatory of the real estate market managed by Italian Revenue Agency (AdE Agenzia delle Entrate) and aggregated at city level according to the methodology of Cannari and Faiella (2008). Data are one-year lagged.
- *Crime rate* Log of the number of crimes (per 1,000 inhabitants) reported by the police forces to the judicial authority at provincial level. Data are one-year lagged. (source: ISTAT)
- *Value added* Log of the value added at provincial level. Data are one-year lagged. (source: ISTAT)
- *Degree days* Log of degree days. Heating degree days are typical indicators of household energy consumption for space heating. The sum of the degree days over periods such as entire heating seasons is used to calculate the amount

of heating required for a building. The degree days of a city is computed as the sum, extended to all days of a conventional heating season, of the daily difference (if positive) between the base temperature (conventionally fixed for Italian cities by the European regulation UNI EN ISO 15927-6:2008) and the mean air temperature outside. A zero degree day in energy monitoring and targeting is when heating consumption is at a minimum, which is useful for power utility companies in predicting seasonal low points in energy demand. (source: ENEA)

- *Altitude* Log of altitude defined as the height (expressed in meters) above sea level of a city. (source: ISTAT)
- Commute time The time taken to reach the usual place of work or study for those who commute daily (mean value per city). The variable is originally coded by minute intervals in the following way: 1 = up to 15 minutes; 2 = between 16 and 30 minutes; 3 = between 31 and 60 minutes; 4 = over 60 minutes. To take into account that intervals do not have a constant time length, the variable is first recoded in minutes by replacing each of its values with the mean value of the relevant interval and then collapsed (mean) at city level. (source: ISTAT)
- Connectivity Connectivity refers to the number of connections in the commuting matrix (flows ≠ 0) over the total number of possible connections, n(n-1), where n is the number of cities of the LLM. The index expresses the degree of flows intensity among cities. The higher the index, the higher is the intensity of inter-city flows; the lower the index, the higher is the proportion of worker flows within the same city of residence.
- *Stayer* A dummy equal to 1 if an individual's current province of residence is the same as the one in which she was born. Provinces are administrative units comparable in size to a US county. (source: SHIW)
- Willingness-to-pay (WTP) To obtain the city average WTP, the average income after local and state taxes is subtracted from imputed rents. Imputed rents are converted from housing values using a discount rate of 4.08 percent (equal to the average rent-to-price ratio in Italy, see Banca d'Italia, 2017 Annual Reports, Regional Economies series): this makes imputed rents comparable to the gross rents available for rental units. Net average income is obtained by applying both the relevant tax rate to the total income reported in each tax bracket, and regional and council tax rates on total income. This enable us to take into account the progressive effect of the tax system and the differentiated effect of local taxes.
- *Reference group income* Income of a reference group is calculated as a yearly average income of individuals living in the same area (with data aggregated into three macro-regions: North, Center and South), similar age (with data aggregated into three age groups: 18-44, 45-54 and more than 55 years) and similar education level (with data aggregated into four categories: Preprimary and primary education, Middle school, High school, University or

postgraduate degree). Thus there were 36 arbitrarily assigned reference groups. To some extent this procedure is justified by the fact that both work colleagues and friends are likely to belong to a similar age groups and to complete a similar level of education.

- Past income shock Indicator obtained from the following question: "Considering the total income of your household in year (t-1), would you say that it was unusually high, unusually low, or normal with respect to the yearly income your household generally makes in a normal year?" Coded: 1 = Unusually high; 2 = Normal; 3 = Unusually low. The question was not asked before 2010. (source: SHIW)
- Expected income Indicator obtained from the following question: "Consider your household's overall income in the current year. Compared with the previous year, do you think that it will be higher, the same or lower?" Coded: 1= higher; 2 = the same; 3 = lower; 4 = Don't know/No answer. The question was asked only in 2014. (source: SHIW)
- Expected real income Indicator obtained from the following question: "This year do you expect your household's total income to rise more than prices, less than prices, or about the same as prices?" Coded: 1 = Less than prices; 2 = About the same as prices; 3 = More than prices; 4 = Don't know; 5 No answer. The question was not asked before 2010. (source: SHIW)

Variable	Mean	St Dev			Percentiles		
			10	25	50	75	90
		Panel A	A: Survey of	^e Household	Income and	Wealth	
Happiness	6.918	1.827	5	6	7	8	9
Sex	.616	.486	0	0	1	1	1
Age	55.048	16.448	35	41	55	69	77
Education	2.0858	.948	1	1	2	3	3
Self-employed	.115	.319	0	0	0	0	1
Unemployed	.026	.160	0	0	0	0	0
Retired	.401	.490	0	0	0	1	1
Household size	2.551	1.243	1	1	2	4	4
Married	.616	.486	0	0	1	1	1
Equiv. Income	$14,\!503.82$	$15,\!822.26$	$5,\!971.112$	$8,\!051.732$	$12,\!218.67$	$16,\!941.54$	$23,\!390.95$
Equiv. Wealth	124,848	$194,\!314.9$	$1,\!885.148$	$15,\!340.4$	76,000	$155,\!434.8$	$276,\!250$
Stayer	.743	.437	0	0	1	1	1
Inherited home	.204	.402	0	0	0	0	1
			Panel E	B: Location (Controls		
City population	$264,\!553$	627,017.7	1,743	5,961	$24,\!536$	110,025	867,857
House prices (1)	$1,\!275.038$	708.9714	513.7321	723.7202	$1,\!091.131$	$1,\!615.59$	$2,\!401.044$
Degree days	1,985.782	651.5855	1,078	1,415	$2,\!193$	2,468	$2,\!689$
Altitude	199.9286	218.3668	10	20	122	307	476
Crime rate (2)	43.72	12.84	29.67	34.03	40.86	50.59	63.58
Value added (3)	$24,\!430.48$	$10,\!411.97$	14,102.49	$16,\!425.59$	$23,\!497.23$	27,761.43	30,504.29
Unempl. rate	9.701	4.871	4.871	6.155	7.781	14.015	17.399
Connectivity	71.344	23.640	31.463	52.269	78.080	94.152	100

Table A1: Summary statistics

Notes: (1) Euro per square meter (2) per 1,000 inhabitants (3) per capita. The statistics refer to the sample used in estimations and, in Panel A, are calculated using sampling weights. Although the continuous variables are generally expressed in natural logs in estimations, the table shows means and standard deviations of the levels to be more informative. The number of observations in Panel A is 35,828 from the waves 2004, 2006, 2008, 2010, 2012, 2014, 2016 of SHIW.

Appendix B Review of the Coefficients

This appendix offers a review of the other determinants of SWB.²⁸ According to estimates reported in Column 2 of Table 5, all the main determinants of happiness highlighted by the literature are confirmed. R eported h appiness is h igh among those who are married, men, the well-educated and the employees, and it increases with household size. In line with previous empirical evidence on different countries, happiness is U-shaped in age (minimizing around the individual's middle-aged period).²⁹ According to the estimates, being unemployed has a sizable negative effect on happiness.

In a spatial equilibrium framework, local income and wealth are jointly determined with the local cost of living and amenities and so they partially depend on the extent of urbanization. Because of this, some studies that cannot reliably account for a full set of amenities do not include them among individual controls. However, since in the analysis I can rely on several city-level data correlated with the local cost of living and most relevant amenities, I choose to include income and wealth among individual controls. Column 3 of Table 5 shows the results of the inclusion of these controls: as widely predicted by the theory and previous empirical studies, both individual income and wealth have a sizable effect on SWB. Furthermore, the effect of urbanization on happiness is unchanged in terms of sign and statistical significance, albeit slightly lower in magnitude.

In urban economics, the higher house prices of big cities are a revealed signal of higher quality of life, other things being constant, because individuals will move toward the areas they find attractive, which, in turn, drives up housing prices (Gabriel *et al.* (2003)). On the other hand, a higher cost of living in big cities may have an adverse effect on SWB. To take into account the overall effect, I therefore include city-level house prices per square meter. In line with urban literature findings, higher housing values have a significant and positive effect on individual well-being, suggesting that they are associated with better local amenities which, in turn, increase individual well-being. Consistently, conditioning on house prices us to partial out the effect of better local amenities in bigger cities.

Many researchers have hypothesized that individual well-being may be considerably affected by the physical, social, and economic environment in which the individuals are situated. To account for this, in Column 5 of Table 5 I add to the previous specification a full set of location-specific controls. I first condition on a vector of clearly exogenous observable amenities, such as weather conditions

²⁸Indeed, it is particularly instruction to study the determinants of SWB in Italy since, in an international comparison, it consistently performs poorly in terms of SWB: for example, according to Eurostat Italy ranks below the average of European countries and last among countries at a comparable stage of economic devel-opment: http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php/Quality_of_life_indicators_-overall_experience_of_life.

²⁹One tentative explanation of the latter result put forward in the literature is that the decline and then rise in well-being through the years may reflect a process of adaptation to circumstances; by the middle of their lives, people frequently experience a gap between their early adulthood aspirations and their real accomplishments. During old age they adapt some of their aspirations to circumstances and thereby come to enjoy life more (see, e.g., Blanchflower and Oswald (2004)).

and natural amenities, that, according to social psychology literature, may affect mood and, in turn, subjective well-being. I try to control for such factors by including a measure of heating degree days that are typical indicators of household energy consumption for space heating, and so also express how cold winters are in each specific c ity. More mountainous topography may provide greater consumption amenities, even though it may make production more difficult and reduce employment opportunities. I then control, too, for city altitude (height above sea level of a city). The effect of both of these natural amenities measures is found to be not statistically different from zero. Most probably, this is due to the fact that the positive effect of a natural amenity is offset by the negative effect of higher levels of congestion associated with their attractiveness.

By living in a safe city residents feel less vulnerable and scared, which could have an indirect impact on their SWB. I then add the county crime rate to the location-specific controls and, as expected, I find a statistically significant negative effect on SWB.

Finally, I include the county-level per capita value added because living in a stronger local economy is expected to increase well-being. In fact, empirical evidence regularly finds that high individual income increases individual well-being, but there is also evidence that the local per capita income of an area has a positive effect on the well-being of its residents, even among those who are richer (Helliwell and Huang (2014)). This latter effect could be because of decreased (perceived) risk of becoming unemployed in an area with a strong local economy. In addition to this, areas with high per capita income are supposed to have a greater offer of amenities that may make life more enjoyable. In line with these assumptions, per capita value added is found to have a strong and positive effect on SWB as shown in Column 5 of Table 5. In an unreported estimation, I replace value added with an alternative and more direct proxy of labour market risk, such as the unemployment rate, while the effect on the city size coefficient remains unchanged (see also Column 7 of Table 6.

Overall, even after the inclusion of a full set of location-specific controls, the negative effect of urbanization on SWB is still strongly significant. A salready underlined, only the inclusion of commute time (Column 6) significantly decreases the city size coefficient both in magnitude and statistical significance.

References

- Accetturo, A., Lamorgese, A., Mocetti, S., and Pellegrino, D. (2018). Housing Supply Elasticity and Growth: Evidence from Italian Cities. Mimeo.
- Accetturo, A., Lamorgese, A., Mocetti, S., and Sestito, P. (2019). Sviluppo locale, economie urbane e crescita aggregata: i risultati di una recente ricerca della Banca d'Italia. In E. D'Albergo, D. D. Leo, and G. Viesti, editors, *Quarto Rapporto annuale di Urban@it sulle città: Il governo debole delle economie urbane*. Il Mulino, Bologna, Italy.
- Agrawal, D. R. and Hoyt, W. H. (2018). Commuting and taxes: Theory, empirics and welfare implications. *The Economic Journal*, **128**(616), 2969–3007.
- Albouy, D. (2008). Are big cities bad places to live? estimating quality of life across metropolitan areas. Working Paper 14472, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Alesina, A. and Ichino, A. (2009). L'Italia fatta in casa. Indagine sulla vera ricchezza degli italiani. Mondadori, Milano, Italy.
- Altonji, J., Elder, T., and Taber, C. (2005). Selection on observed and unobserved variables: Assessing the effectiveness of catholic schools. *Journal of Political Economy*, **113**(1), 151–184.
- Angrist, J. and Pischke, J. (2008). Mostly Harmless Econometrics: An Empiricist's Companion. Princeton University Press.
- Baird, S., Hicks, J. H., and Miguel, E. (2008). Tracking, Attrition and Data Quality in the Kenyan Life Panel Survey Round 1 (KLPS-1). Cider working paper, University of California.
- Barone, G. and Mocetti, S. (2011). Tax morale and public spending inefficiency. International Tax and Public Finance, 18(6), 724–749.
- Berry, B. J. L. and Okulicz-Kozaryn, A. (2011). An urban-rural happiness gradient. Urban Geography, **32**(6), 871–883.
- Blanchflower, D. G. and Oswald, A. J. (2004). Well-being over time in britain and the usa. *Journal of Public Economics*, 88(7), 1359 1386.
- Broersma, L. and van Dijk, J. (2008). The effect of congestion and agglomeration on multifactor productivity growth in dutch regions. *Journal of Economic Geography*, 8(2), 181–209.
- Brunello, G., Lupi, C., and Ordine, P. (2001). Widening differences in italian regional unemployment. *Labour Economics*, 8(1), 103–129.
- Canberra Group (2011). The Canberra Group Handbook on Household Income Statistics. United Nations, Geneva.

- Cannari, L. and Faiella, I. (2008). House Prices and Housing Wealth in Italy. In A. Bassanetti and F. Zollino, editors, *Household Wealth in Italy*. Bank of Italy, Rome.
- Chaney, T., Sraer, D., and Thesmar, D. (2012). The collateral channel: How real estate shocks affect corporate investment. *American Economic Review*, **102**(6), 2381–2409.
- Ciani, E., David, F., and de Blasio, G. (2017). Local labour market heterogeneity in Italy: estimates and simulations using responses to labour demand shocks. Temi di discussione (Economic working papers) 1112, Bank of Italy.
- Ciccone, A. and Hall, R. (1996). Productivity and the density of economic activity. *American Economic Review*, **86**(1), 54–70.
- Clark, A. (2016). SWB as a Measure of Individual Well-Being. In M. D. Adler and M. Fleurbaey, editors, *The Oxford Handbook of Well-Being and Public Policy*, chapter 18.
- Clark, A. E., Flèche, S., Layard, R., Powdthavee, N., and Ward, G. (2018). The Origins of Happiness: The Science of Well-Being over the Life Course. Princeton University Press.
- Colombo, E., Michelangeli, A., and Stanca, L. (2014). La dolce vita: Hedonic estimates of quality of life in italian cities. *Regional Studies*, **48**(8), 1404–1418.
- Combes, P.-P., Duranton, G., and Gobillon, L. (2008). Spatial wage disparities: Sorting matters! *Journal of Urban Economics*, **63**(2), 723–742.
- De la Roca, J. and Puga, D. (2017). Learning by working in big cities. *The Review* of Economic Studies, 84(1), 106.
- Diamond, R. (2016). The determinants and welfare implications of us workers' diverging location choices by skill: 1980-2000. American Economic Review, 106(3), 479–524.
- Distel, L. M., Malone, J., and Waldinger, R. J. (2015). Life span trajectories of depressive symptomatology and personality functioning. *Journal of the American Psychoanalytic Association*, **63**(3), 10–14.
- Duesenberry, J. S. (1949). Income, Saving and the Theory of Consumer Behavior. Harvard University Press, Cambridge Massachusetts.
- Easterlin, R. A. (1974). Does economic growth improve the human lot? some empirical evidence. In P. A. David and M. W. Reder, editors, *Nations and Households in Economic Growth*, pages 89 – 125. Academic Press.
- Easterlin, R. A., Angelescu, L., and Zweig, J. S. (2011). The impact of modern economic growth on urban-rural differences in subjective well-being. *World Development*, **39**(12), 2187 – 2198.

- Ellison, G., Glaeser, E. L., and Kerr, W. R. (2010). What causes industry agglomeration? evidence from coagglomeration patterns. *American Economic Review*, **100**(3), 1195–1213.
- Faiella, I. (2008). Accounting for sampling design in the SHIW. Temi di discussione (Economic working papers) 662, Bank of Italy.
- Fehr, E. and Schmidt, K. M. (1999). A theory of fairness, competition, and cooperation. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, **114**(3), 817–868.
- Ferrer-i Carbonell, A. (2005). Income and well-being: an empirical analysis of the comparison income effect. Journal of Public Economics, 89(5), 997 – 1019.
- Gabriel, S., Mattey, J. P., and Wascher, W. (2003). Compensating differentials and evolution in the quality-of-life among u.s. states. *Regional Science and Urban Economics*, **33**(5), 619–649.
- Glaeser, E. L. (2011). Triumph of the City. Penguin Books, New York, NY.
- Glaeser, E. L., Gottlieb, J. D., and Ziv, O. (2016). Unhappy cities. Journal of Labor Economics, 34(S2), S129–S182.
- González, F. and Miguel, E. (2015). War and local collective action in sierra leone: A comment on the use of coefficient stability approaches. *Journal of Public Economics*, **128**, 30 – 33.
- Guiso, L., Pistaferri, L., and Schivardi, F. (2015). Learning entrepreneurship from other entrepreneurs? Working Paper 21775, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Gujarati, D. (1988). Basic Econometrics. McGraw-Hill Education.
- Harari, M. (2017). Cities in bad shape: urban geometry in India. Mimeo.
- Helliwell, J. F. and Huang, H. (2014). New measures of the costs of unemployment: Evidence from the subjective well-being of 3.3 million americans. *Economic Inquiry*, 52(4), 1485–1502.
- Helliwell, J. F., Shiplett, H., and Barrington-Leigh, C. P. (2018). How happy are your neighbours? variation in life satisfaction among 1200 canadian neighbourhoods and communities. Working Paper 24592, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Hirschman, A. O. and Rothschild, M. (1973). The changing tolerance for income inequality in the course of economic development: With a mathematical appendix. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 87(4), 544–566.
- Hsieh, C.-T. and Moretti, E. (2019). Housing constraints and spatial misallocation. American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics, Forthcoming.
- Hymel, K. (2009). Does traffic congestion reduce employment growth? Journal of Urban Economics, **65**(2), 127 135.

- Kahneman, D. and Krueger, A. B. (2006). Developments in the measurement of subjective well-being. *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, **20**(1), 3–24.
- Kahneman, D., Katz, J., and Redelmeier, D. (2003). Memories of colonoscopy: A randomized trial. *Pain*, **104**(1-2), 187–94.
- Kahneman, D., Krueger, A. B., Schkade, D., Schwarz, N., and Stone, A. A. (2006). Would you be happier if you were richer? a focusing illusion. *Science*, **312**(5782), 1908–1910.
- Lamorgese, A. and Petrella, A. (2018). Italian cities: definitions, characteristics and growth. Questioni di Economia e Finanza (Occasional Papers) 454, Bank of Italy.
- Lucas, J. L. and Heady, R. B. (2002). Flextime commuters and their driver stress, feelings of time urgency, and commute satisfaction. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 16(4), 565–571.
- Luttmer, E. F. P. (2005). Neighbors as negatives: Relative earnings and well-being. The Quarterly Journal of Economics, **120**(3), 963–1002.
- Manzoli, E. and Mocetti, S. (2016). The house price gradient: evidence from Italian cities. Questioni di Economia e Finanza (Occasional Papers) 348, Bank of Italy.
- McBride, M. (2001). Relative-income effects on subjective well-being in the crosssection. Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, 45(3), 251–278.
- McKenzie, D. (2012). Beyond baseline and follow-up: The case for more t in experiments. *Journal of Development Economics*, **99**(2), 210 221.
- Mocetti, S. (2016). Dynasties in professions and the role of rents and regulation: Evidence from italian pharmacies. *Journal of Public Economics*, **133**, 1 – 10.
- Monte, F., Redding, S. J., and Rossi-Hansberg, E. (2018). Commuting, migration, and local employment elasticities. *American Economic Review*, **108**(12), 3855– 90.
- Moretti, E. (2004). Estimating the social return to higher education: evidence from longitudinal and repeated cross-sectional data. *Journal of Econometrics*, **121**(1 2), 175 212. Higher education (Annals issue).
- Moretti, E. (2013). Real wage inequality. American Economic Journal: Applied Economics, 5(1), 65–103.
- Moulton, B. R. (1990). An illustration of a pitfall in estimating the effects of aggregate variables on micro units. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, **72**(2), 334–338.
- Office for National Statistics (2014). Commuting and personal well-being.
- Oster, E. (2017). Unobservable selection and coefficient stability: Theory and evidence. Journal of Business & Economic Statistics, **35**(0), 1–18.

- Rosenthal, S. and Strange, W. (2001). The determinants of agglomeration. *Journal* of Urban Economics, **50**(2), 191–229.
- Senik, C. (2008). Ambition and Jealousy: Income Interactions in the 'Old' Europe versus the 'New' Europe and the United States. *Economica*, **75**(299), 495–513.
- Stutzer, A. and Frey, B. S. (2008). Stress that doesn't pay: The commuting paradox. *Scandinavian Journal of Economics*, **110**(2), 339–366.
- Vaillant, G. (2003). Aging Well: Surprising Guideposts to a Happier Life from the Landmark Study of Adult Development. Little, Brown.
- Winters, J. V. and Li, Y. (2017). Urbanisation, natural amenities and subjective well-being: Evidence from us counties. *Urban Studies*, **54**(8), 1956–1973.
- Wirth, L. (1938). Urbanism as a way of life. American Journal of Sociology, 44(1), 1–24.

RECENTLY PUBLISHED "TEMI" (*)

- N. 1201 Contagion in the CoCos market? A case study of two stress events, by Pierluigi Bologna, Arianna Miglietta and Anatoli Segura (November 2018).
- N. 1202 *Is ECB monetary policy more powerful during expansions?*, by Martina Cecioni (December 2018).
- N. 1203 *Firms' inflation expectations and investment plans*, by Adriana Grasso and Tiziano Ropele (December 2018).
- N. 1204 *Recent trends in economic activity and TFP in Italy with a focus on embodied technical progress*, by Alessandro Mistretta and Francesco Zollino (December 2018).
- N. 1205 Benefits of Gradualism or Costs of Inaction? Monetary Policy in Times of Uncertainty, by Giuseppe Ferrero, Mario Pietrunti and Andrea Tiseno (February 2019).
- N. 1206 Machine learning in the service of policy targeting: the case of public credit guarantees, by Monica Andini, Michela Boldrini, Emanuele Ciani, Guido de Blasio, Alessio D'Ignazio and Andrea Paladini (February 2019).
- N. 1207 Do the ECB's monetary policies benefit Emerging Market Economies? A GVAR analysis on the crisis and post-crisis period, by Andrea Colabella (February 2019).
- N. 1208 *The Economic Effects of Big Events: Evidence from the Great Jubilee 2000 in Rome*, by Raffaello Bronzini, Sauro Mocetti and Matteo Mongardini (February 2019).
- N. 1209 *The added value of more accurate predictions for school rankings*, by Fritz Schiltz, Paolo Sestito, Tommaso Agasisti and Kristof De Witte (February 2019).
- N. 1210 *Identification and estimation of triangular models with a binary treatment*, by Santiago Pereda Fernández (March 2019).
- N. 1211 U.S. shale producers: a case of dynamic risk management, by Fabrizio Ferriani and Giovanni Veronese (March 2019).
- N. 1212 Bank resolution and public backstop in an asymmetric banking union, by Anatoli Segura Velez (March 2019).
- N. 1213 A regression discontinuity design for categorical ordered running variables with an application to central bank purchases of corporate bonds, by Fan Li, Andrea Mercatanti, Taneli Mäkinen and Andrea Silvestrini (March 2019).
- N. 1214 Anything new in town? The local effects of urban regeneration policies in Italy, by Giuseppe Albanese, Emanuele Ciani and Guido de Blasio (April 2019).
- N. 1215 *Risk premium in the era of shale oil*, by Fabrizio Ferriani, Filippo Natoli, Giovanni Veronese and Federica Zeni (April 2019).
- N.1216 Safety traps, liquidity and information-sensitive assets, by Michele Loberto (April 2019).
- N. 1217 Does trust among banks matter for bilateral trade? Evidence from shocks in the interbank market, by Silvia Del Prete and Stefano Federico (April 2019).
- N. 1218 Monetary policy, firms' inflation expectations and prices: causal evidence from firm-level data, by Marco Bottone and Alfonso Rosolia (April 2019).
- N. 1219 Inflation expectations and firms' decisions: new causal evidence, by Olivier Coibion, Yuriy Gorodnichenko and Tiziano Ropele (April 2019).
- N. 1220 *Credit risk-taking and maturity mismatch: the role of the yield curve*, by Giuseppe Ferrero, Andrea Nobili and Gabriele Sene (April 2019).

^(*) Requests for copies should be sent to:

Banca d'Italia – Servizio Studi di struttura economica e finanziaria – Divisione Biblioteca e Archivio storico – Via Nazionale, 91 – 00184 Rome – (fax 0039 06 47922059). They are available on the Internet www.bancaditalia.it.

- AABERGE, R., F. BOURGUIGNON, A. BRANDOLINI, F. FERREIRA, J. GORNICK, J. HILLS, M. JÄNTTI, S. JENKINS, J. MICKLEWRIGHT, E. MARLIER, B. NOLAN, T. PIKETTY, W. RADERMACHER, T. SMEEDING, N. STERN, J. STIGLITZ, H. SUTHERLAND, *Tony Atkinson and his legacy*, Review of Income and Wealth, v. 63, 3, pp. 411-444, WP 1138 (September 2017).
- ACCETTURO A., M. BUGAMELLI and A. LAMORGESE, *Law enforcement and political participation: Italy* 1861-65, Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, v. 140, pp. 224-245, WP 1124 (July 2017).
- ADAMOPOULOU A. and G.M. TANZI, *Academic dropout and the great recession*, Journal of Human Capital, V. 11, 1, pp. 35–71, WP 970 (October 2014).
- ALBERTAZZI U., M. BOTTERO and G. SENE, *Information externalities in the credit market and the spell of credit rationing*, Journal of Financial Intermediation, v. 30, pp. 61–70, WP 980 (November 2014).
- ALESSANDRI P. and H. MUMTAZ, *Financial indicators and density forecasts for US output and inflation,* Review of Economic Dynamics, v. 24, pp. 66-78, **WP 977 (November 2014).**
- BARBIERI G., C. ROSSETTI and P. SESTITO, *Teacher motivation and student learning*, Politica economica/Journal of Economic Policy, v. 33, 1, pp.59-72, WP 761 (June 2010).
- BENTIVOGLI C. and M. LITTERIO, Foreign ownership and performance: evidence from a panel of Italian firms, International Journal of the Economics of Business, v. 24, 3, pp. 251-273, WP 1085 (October 2016).
- BRONZINI R. and A. D'IGNAZIO, *Bank internationalisation and firm exports: evidence from matched firmbank data,* Review of International Economics, v. 25, 3, pp. 476-499 WP 1055 (March 2016).
- BRUCHE M. and A. SEGURA, *Debt maturity and the liquidity of secondary debt markets*, Journal of Financial Economics, v. 124, 3, pp. 599-613, WP 1049 (January 2016).
- BURLON L., *Public expenditure distribution, voting, and growth,* Journal of Public Economic Theory,, v. 19, 4, pp. 789–810, **WP 961 (April 2014).**
- BURLON L., A. GERALI, A. NOTARPIETRO and M. PISANI, Macroeconomic effectiveness of non-standard monetary policy and early exit. a model-based evaluation, International Finance, v. 20, 2, pp.155-173, WP 1074 (July 2016).
- BUSETTI F., *Quantile aggregation of density forecasts,* Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, v. 79, 4, pp. 495-512, **WP 979 (November 2014).**
- CESARONI T. and S. IEZZI, *The predictive content of business survey indicators: evidence from SIGE,* Journal of Business Cycle Research, v.13, 1, pp 75–104, **WP 1031 (October 2015).**
- CONTI P., D. MARELLA and A. NERI, *Statistical matching and uncertainty analysis in combining household income and expenditure data*, Statistical Methods & Applications, v. 26, 3, pp 485–505, **WP 1018** (July 2015).
- D'AMURI F., *Monitoring and disincentives in containing paid sick leave*, Labour Economics, v. 49, pp. 74-83, **WP 787 (January 2011).**
- D'AMURI F. and J. MARCUCCI, *The predictive power of google searches in forecasting unemployment,* International Journal of Forecasting, v. 33, 4, pp. 801-816, **WP 891 (November 2012).**
- DE BLASIO G. and S. POY, *The impact of local minimum wages on employment: evidence from Italy in the* 1950s, Journal of Regional Science, v. 57, 1, pp. 48-74, WP 953 (March 2014).
- DEL GIOVANE P., A. NOBILI and F. M. SIGNORETTI, Assessing the sources of credit supply tightening: was the sovereign debt crisis different from Lehman?, International Journal of Central Banking, v. 13, 2, pp. 197-234, WP 942 (November 2013).
- DEL PRETE S., M. PAGNINI, P. ROSSI and V. VACCA, Lending organization and credit supply during the 2008–2009 crisis, Economic Notes, v. 46, 2, pp. 207–236, WP 1108 (April 2017).
- DELLE MONACHE D. and I. PETRELLA, *Adaptive models and heavy tails with an application to inflation forecasting*, International Journal of Forecasting, v. 33, 2, pp. 482-501, WP 1052 (March 2016).
- FEDERICO S. and E. TOSTI, *Exporters and importers of services: firm-level evidence on Italy*, The World Economy, v. 40, 10, pp. 2078-2096, **WP 877 (September 2012).**
- GIACOMELLI S. and C. MENON, *Does weak contract enforcement affect firm size? Evidence from the neighbour's court,* Journal of Economic Geography, v. 17, 6, pp. 1251-1282, **WP 898 (January 2013).**
- LOBERTO M. and C. PERRICONE, *Does trend inflation make a difference?*, Economic Modelling, v. 61, pp. 351–375, **WP 1033 (October 2015).**

- MANCINI A.L., C. MONFARDINI and S. PASQUA, *Is a good example the best sermon? Children's imitation of parental reading*, Review of Economics of the Household, v. 15, 3, pp 965–993, **D No. 958** (April 2014).
- MEEKS R., B. NELSON and P. ALESSANDRI, *Shadow banks and macroeconomic instability*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 49, 7, pp. 1483–1516, **WP 939 (November 2013).**
- MICUCCI G. and P. ROSSI, *Debt restructuring and the role of banks' organizational structure and lending technologies*, Journal of Financial Services Research, v. 51, 3, pp 339–361, **WP 763 (June 2010).**
- MOCETTI S., M. PAGNINI and E. SETTE, *Information technology and banking organization*, Journal of Journal of Financial Services Research, v. 51, pp. 313-338, **WP 752 (March 2010).**
- MOCETTI S. and E. VIVIANO, *Looking behind mortgage delinquencies*, Journal of Banking & Finance, v. 75, pp. 53-63, **WP 999 (January 2015).**
- NOBILI A. and F. ZOLLINO, A structural model for the housing and credit market in Italy, Journal of Housing Economics, v. 36, pp. 73-87, WP 887 (October 2012).
- PALAZZO F., Search costs and the severity of adverse selection, Research in Economics, v. 71, 1, pp. 171-197, WP 1073 (July 2016).
- PATACCHINI E. and E. RAINONE, Social ties and the demand for financial services, Journal of Financial Services Research, v. 52, 1–2, pp 35–88, WP 1115 (June 2017).
- PATACCHINI E., E. RAINONE and Y. ZENOU, *Heterogeneous peer effects in education*, Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, v. 134, pp. 190–227, WP 1048 (January 2016).
- SBRANA G., A. SILVESTRINI and F. VENDITTI, *Short-term inflation forecasting: the M.E.T.A. approach,* International Journal of Forecasting, v. 33, 4, pp. 1065-1081, **WP 1016 (June 2015).**
- SEGURA A. and J. SUAREZ, *How excessive is banks' maturity transformation?*, Review of Financial Studies, v. 30, 10, pp. 3538–3580, WP 1065 (April 2016).
- VACCA V., An unexpected crisis? Looking at pricing effectiveness of heterogeneous banks, Economic Notes, v. 46, 2, pp. 171–206, WP 814 (July 2011).
- VERGARA CAFFARELI F., One-way flow networks with decreasing returns to linking, Dynamic Games and Applications, v. 7, 2, pp. 323-345, WP 734 (November 2009).
- ZAGHINI A., A Tale of fragmentation: corporate funding in the euro-area bond market, International Review of Financial Analysis, v. 49, pp. 59-68, WP 1104 (February 2017).

2018

- ACCETTURO A., V. DI GIACINTO, G. MICUCCI and M. PAGNINI, Geography, productivity and trade: does selection explain why some locations are more productive than others?, Journal of Regional Science, v. 58, 5, pp. 949-979, WP 910 (April 2013).
- ADAMOPOULOU A. and E. KAYA, *Young adults living with their parents and the influence of peers*, Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, v. 80, pp. 689-713, WP 1038 (November 2015).
- ANDINI M., E. CIANI, G. DE BLASIO, A. D'IGNAZIO and V. SILVESTRINI, *Targeting with machine learning:* an application to a tax rebate program in Italy, Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, v. 156, pp. 86-102, WP 1158 (December 2017).
- BARONE G., G. DE BLASIO and S. MOCETTI, The real effects of credit crunch in the great recession: evidence from Italian provinces, Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 70, pp. 352-59, WP 1057 (March 2016).
- BELOTTI F. and G. ILARDI Consistent inference in fixed-effects stochastic frontier models, Journal of Econometrics, v. 202, 2, pp. 161-177, WP 1147 (October 2017).
- BERTON F., S. MOCETTI, A. PRESBITERO and M. RICHIARDI, *Banks, firms, and jobs,* Review of Financial Studies, v.31, 6, pp. 2113-2156, WP 1097 (February 2017).
- BOFONDI M., L. CARPINELLI and E. SETTE, *Credit supply during a sovereign debt crisis*, Journal of the European Economic Association, v.16, 3, pp. 696-729, **WP 909 (April 2013).**
- BOKAN N., A. GERALI, S. GOMES, P. JACQUINOT and M. PISANI, EAGLE-FLI: a macroeconomic model of banking and financial interdependence in the euro area, Economic Modelling, v. 69, C, pp. 249-280, WP 1064 (April 2016).

- BRILLI Y. and M. TONELLO, Does increasing compulsory education reduce or displace adolescent crime? New evidence from administrative and victimization data, CESifo Economic Studies, v. 64, 1, pp. 15–4, WP 1008 (April 2015).
- BUONO I. and S. FORMAI *The heterogeneous response of domestic sales and exports to bank credit shocks,* Journal of International Economics, v. 113, pp. 55-73, WP 1066 (March 2018).
- BURLON L., A. GERALI, A. NOTARPIETRO and M. PISANI, Non-standard monetary policy, asset prices and macroprudential policy in a monetary union, Journal of International Money and Finance, v. 88, pp. 25-53, WP 1089 (October 2016).
- CARTA F. and M. DE PHLIPPIS, *You've Come a long way, baby. Husbands' commuting time and family labour supply*, Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 69, pp. 25-37, WP 1003 (March 2015).
- CARTA F. and L. RIZZICA, *Early kindergarten, maternal labor supply and children's outcomes: evidence from Italy*, Journal of Public Economics, v. 158, pp. 79-102, WP 1030 (October 2015).
- CASIRAGHI M., E. GAIOTTI, L. RODANO and A. SECCHI, A "Reverse Robin Hood"? The distributional implications of non-standard monetary policy for Italian households, Journal of International Money and Finance, v. 85, pp. 215-235, WP 1077 (July 2016).
- CECCHETTI S., F. NATOLI and L. SIGALOTTI, *Tail co-movement in inflation expectations as an indicator of anchoring*, International Journal of Central Banking, v. 14, 1, pp. 35-71, WP 1025 (July 2015).
- CIANI E. and C. DEIANA, *No Free lunch, buddy: housing transfers and informal care later in life,* Review of Economics of the Household, v.16, 4, pp. 971-1001, **WP 1117 (June 2017).**
- CIPRIANI M., A. GUARINO, G. GUAZZAROTTI, F. TAGLIATI and S. FISHER, *Informational contagion in the laboratory*, Review of Finance, v. 22, 3, pp. 877-904, WP 1063 (April 2016).
- DE BLASIO G, S. DE MITRI, S. D'IGNAZIO, P. FINALDI RUSSO and L. STOPPANI, *Public guarantees to SME* borrowing. A RDD evaluation, Journal of Banking & Finance, v. 96, pp. 73-86, WP 1111 (April 2017).
- GERALI A., A. LOCARNO, A. NOTARPIETRO and M. PISANI, *The sovereign crisis and Italy's potential output*, Journal of Policy Modeling, v. 40, 2, pp. 418-433, **WP 1010 (June 2015).**
- LIBERATI D., An estimated DSGE model with search and matching frictions in the credit market, International Journal of Monetary Economics and Finance (IJMEF), v. 11, 6, pp. 567-617, WP 986 (November 2014).
- LINARELLO A., *Direct and indirect effects of trade liberalization: evidence from Chile,* Journal of Development Economics, v. 134, pp. 160-175, **WP 994 (December 2014).**
- NUCCI F. and M. RIGGI, Labor force participation, wage rigidities, and inflation, Journal of Macroeconomics, v. 55, 3 pp. 274-292, WP 1054 (March 2016).
- RIGON M. and F. ZANETTI, Optimal monetary policy and fiscal policy interaction in a non_ricardian economy, International Journal of Central Banking, v. 14 3, pp. 389-436, WP 1155 (December 2017).
- SEGURA A., *Why did sponsor banks rescue their SIVs?*, Review of Finance, v. 22, 2, pp. 661-697, WP 1100 (February 2017).

2019

- ARNAUDO D., G. MICUCCI, M. RIGON and P. ROSSI, *Should I stay or should I go? Firms' mobility across banks in the aftermath of the financial crisis,* Italian Economic Journal / Rivista italiana degli economisti, v. 5, 1, pp. 17-37, **WP 1086 (October 2016).**
- CIANI E., F. DAVID and G. DE BLASIO, *Local responses to labor demand shocks: a re-assessment of the case of Italy*, Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 75, pp. 1-21, WP 1112 (April 2017).
- CIANI E. and P. FISHER, *Dif-in-dif estimators of multiplicative treatment effects*, Journal of Econometric Methods, v. 8. 1, pp. 1-10, **WP 985 (November 2014).**
- CHIADES P., L. GRECO, V. MENGOTTO, L. MORETTI and P. VALBONESI, Fiscal consolidation by intergovernmental transfers cuts? The unpleasant effect on expenditure arrears, Economic Modelling, v. 77, pp. 266-275, WP 985 (July 2016).

- GIORDANO C., M. MARINUCCI and A. SILVESTRINI, *The macro determinants of firms' and households' investment: evidence from Italy*, Economic Modelling, v. 78, pp. 118-133, WP 1167 (March 2018).
- MONTEFORTE L. and V. RAPONI, *Short-term forecasts of economic activity: are fortnightly factors useful?*, Journal of Forecasting, v. 38, 3, pp. 207-221, WP 1177 (June 2018).
- RIGGI M., Capital destruction, jobless recoveries, and the discipline device role of unemployment, Macroeconomic Dynamics, v. 23, 2, pp. 590-624, WP 871 (July 2012).

FORTHCOMING

- ALBANESE G., G. DE BLASIO and P. SESTITO, *Trust, risk and time preferences: evidence from survey data,* International Review of Economics, **WP 911 (April 2013).**
- APRIGLIANO V., G. ARDIZZI and L. MONTEFORTE, Using the payment system data to forecast the economic activity, International Journal of Central Banking, WP 1098 (February 2017).
- ARDUINI T., E. PATACCHINI and E. RAINONE, *Treatment effects with heterogeneous externalities*, Journal of Business & Economic Statistics, **WP 974 (October 2014).**
- BELOTTI F. and G. ILARDI, Consistent inference in fixed-effects stochastic frontier models, Journal of Econometrics, WP 1147 (October 2017).
- BUSETTI F. and M. CAIVANO, Low frequency drivers of the real interest rate: empirical evidence for advanced economies, International Finance, WP 1132 (September 2017).
- CAPPELLETTI G., G. GUAZZAROTTI and P. TOMMASINO, *Tax deferral and mutual fund inflows: evidence from a quasi-natural experiment*, Fiscal Studies, **WP 938 (November 2013).**
- CIANI E. and G. DE BLASIO, *European structural funds during the crisis: evidence from Southern Italy,* IZA Journal of Labor Policy, **WP 1029 (October 2015).**
- COLETTA M., R. DE BONIS and S. PIERMATTEI, Household debt in OECD countries: the role of supply-side and demand-side factors, Social Indicators Research, WP 989 (November 2014).
- CORSELLO F. and V. NISPI LANDI, *Labor market and financial shocks: a time-varying analysis*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, **WP 1179 (June 2018).**
- COVA P., P. PAGANO and M. PISANI, Domestic and international macroeconomic effects of the Eurosystem Expanded Asset Purchase Programme, IMF Economic Review, WP 1036 (October 2015).
- D'AMURI F., Monitoring and disincentives in containing paid sick leave, Labour Economics, WP 787 (January 2011).
- D'IGNAZIO A. and C. MENON, *The causal effect of credit Guarantees for SMEs: evidence from Italy,* Scandinavian Journal of Economics, **WP 900 (February 2013).**
- ERCOLANI V. and J. VALLE E AZEVEDO, *How can the government spending multiplier be small at the zero lower bound?*, Macroeconomic Dynamics, WP 1174 (April 2018).
- FEDERICO S. and E. TOSTI, *Exporters and importers of services: firm-level evidence on Italy*, The World Economy, **WP 877 (September 2012).**
- GERALI A. and S. NERI, *Natural rates across the Atlantic*, Journal of Macroeconomics, WP 1140 (September 2017).
- GIACOMELLI S. and C. MENON, *Does weak contract enforcement affect firm size? Evidence from the neighbour's court,* Journal of Economic Geography, **WP 898 (January 2013).**
- NATOLI F. and L. SIGALOTTI, *Tail co-movement in inflation expectations as an indicator of anchoring,* International Journal of Central Banking, WP 1025 (July 2015).
- RAINONE E., The network nature of otc interest rates, Journal of Financial Markets, WP 1022 (July 2015).
- RIZZICA L., Raising aspirations and higher education. evidence from the UK's widening participation policy, Journal of Labor Economics, WP 1188 (September 2018).
- SEGURA A., Why did sponsor banks rescue their SIVs?, Review of Finance, WP 1100 (February 2017).